

UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Department of Social Work

Undocumented children and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden: everyday life and expectations

Master's Programme in Social Work and Human Rights

Degree Report 30 higher education credits

Spring 2013

Author: Ana Laura Rivera Cárdenas

Supervisor: Monica Nordenfors

Abstract

Title: Undocumented children and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden: everyday life and

expectations

Author: Ana Laura Rivera Cárdenas

Key words: undocumented children, undocumented young adults, child rights perspective,

everyday life, symbolic interactionism, interpreter -aided research

This research elicits how undocumented children and young adults construct and experience their

everyday life in Gothenburg, Sweden. The construction or lack of construction of a future

depending on a non citizenship is analyzed and considered to be the point of departure for other

researchers willing to imbue themselves in the erection of intercultural societies where

undocumented migrants' rights can be guaranteed and respected.

The research makes a journey through the most relevant English written literature regarding

undocumented children's rights and life conditions in a structural perspective. Precise laws that

protect undocumented children in Sweden are addressed.

Finally, conducting unstructured research interviews with four participants a passage through

their everyday lives is depicted and analyzed under a rights perspective and using symbolic

interactionism as background theory while considering them as active social agents.

2

Acknowledgements

First of all I want to thank the four participants of this research. Without your interesting stories and the amenable time you were willing to share with me none of this would be possible. This document belongs to you.

I also need to thank the two most important persons in my life. Sergio and Bacaanda have been the bravest persons in my world while dealing with my ups and downs while writing this thesis and coping with my stressful evenings. Los amo y son la razón que me hace sonreír cada día.

Finally, I want to thank my family, all my classmates and teachers for their support during that two years journey in Gothenburg. Monica, I am giving you this thesis one year later but I am sure the delay was worthwhile.

"It is one thing to turn up in a new country in all the pomp and circumstance of a great big boat, heavily armed, and laden down with good things to eat and trade. It is quite a different thing, as poor refugees throughout history will tell you, to turn up practically naked, unarmed, defenceless and with nothing in your arms" Cressida Cowell, How to Ride a Dragon's Storm

Table of contents

Chapter 1

Introduction.	7
Objectives	7
Research questions	7
Definition of concepts.	8
Am I an undocumented migrant?	8
Am I an undocumented child?	9
General context	10
Undocumented migrants in numbers	10
Constructing undocumented children as vulnerable.	12
As an undocumented child in Sweden, which laws protect me?	13
International legal framework: the United Nations' instruments	13
National legal framework: Law Concerning Health Care for Asylum Seekers	and
Others	16
Previous research.	19
Access to economic, social and cultural rights of undocumented migran Sweden.	
Undocumented migrants: citizens /non-citizens of Sweden.	24
Undocumented children in Europe and Sweden	26
Chapter 2- Theoretical framework	
Children as social agents.	34
Interpretative Reproduction	35
Symbolic interactionism.	36

Chapter 3 - Methodology

Induction and Deduction	37
Phenomenology	38
Unstructured research interview	40
Sample definition	41
Validity and trustworthiness.	43
Ethical considerations	44
Informed consent	45
Children's risks in participating	47
Interpreters as intermediaries.	47
Parent's presence.	50
Anonymity	50
Children at risk	52
Analysis	53
Profile of the participants	53
Technical considerations	54
Chapter 4 – Results and Analysis of Interview Data	
Results and Analysis	57
Migratory Status	57
Personal identity.	58
Everyday life	60
Feelings: fear and resentment towards the failed asylum process60)
School	
Housing arrangements65	
Interpersonal relationships	69

	Accessibility to health care	75
	Informal work	76
	Spatiality in Gothenburg	77
	Conclusions regarding how is the everyday life of undocumented children	
	and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden constructed and experienced	80
	Desire of Change.	84
	Future expectations	85
Chapter 5	- Conclusions	
Appendix	- Interview guide	
Bibliograp	phy93	

Chapter 1

Introduction

This is a story about how two children and two young persons live their childhood, teenage years or young adulthood in Gothenburg, Sweden as minors or young adults without proper documents to reside in the country. In this research I try to rescue the most relevant ideas that had been phrased in English regarding the situation of undocumented migrants and children in specific in Sweden

I had great expectations regarding this research and some of them were not feasible, but what is presented here is done with complete security that comes from the participants and that their right to express their ideas, thoughts and feelings was always respected and is the backbone of this research.

The theories that support the fieldwork are symbolic interactionism, interpretative reproduction and the sociology of childhood that considers children as social agents. In the methodology, both inductivity and deductivity are employed under a phenomenological perspective. An extensive chapter regarding results and analysis is included with the objective of hearing directly the voices of the real experts, the children and young adults protagonists of the research.

Objectives

The general objective of this research is to hear, make visible, describe and analyze the everyday life and future expectations of undocumented children and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden from their own perspective. The specific objectives are:

- Conduct research with children and young adults recognized as social agents.
- Perform research with children under a children's rights perspective.

Research questions

The overall objective of the research will be tackled by addressing the following questions:

1. How is the everyday life of undocumented children and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden constructed and experienced?

- 2. Which aspects of their everyday life, and why, would they like to be different in order to have their children's rights respected?
- 3. What are the future expectations of undocumented children and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden?

Definition of concepts

In order to have a clearer idea of who are the storytellers of this story let us define what is conceived as undocumented migrant and specifically what an undocumented child is.

Am I an undocumented migrant?

The Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants¹ (PICUM) defines undocumented migrants as persons who reside in a country without having a residence permit that allows them to do so. In this sense, this platform has classified undocumented migrants in two categories:

- (i) People whose arrival in the country of destination has been by a legal route, but who have subsequently found that the substantial cost of their movement cannot be recovered through the very limited work opportunities permitted under the official schemes;
- (ii) People who, though gaining admission by irregular routes, had been led to that point after a long-drawn out process involving a substantial commitment in time and scarce financial resources, but who had not at the onset of their journey necessarily intended 'illegal' migration (PICUM 2007:5).

In the second category we can recognize the asylum seekers whose application has been rejected; persons that are estimated to be the majority of undocumented migrants residing in Sweden.

8

¹ This platform is a non-governmental organization that promotes the respect of the rights of undocumented migrants in Europe by monitoring and reporting, advocacy, capacity-building, awareness-raising and dialoguing with global actors on international migration (PICUM 2008:2; PICUM 2007:2).

Am I an undocumented child?

According to Westin, in the social construction² of a "hidden child" two of the main features that interact are self-perception and the perception of the others. In one hand, the self-perception of the child is not changed instantly while receiving a denial of the asylum application; this means that to perceive himself o herself as "hidden" is a process. On the other hand, what changes is the perception of the other, meaning the adults, towards the child when they realize he or she does not have a legal status anymore. This change of perception transforms the rights adults think the child is now entitled or not entitled to. This modification of perception ultimately alters the social environment of the child. In this sense, the difference of how the child is being treated by the others is what makes the child to change his or her self-image (Westin 2008:39, 42).

In connection, regarding how the others perceive the child, Jacqueline Bhabha, using a metaphor, names undocumented children as Arendt's children³. This denomination includes more than enough the children this study aims to address because Arendt's children include"...migrant children who have traveled alone across borders, first-generation citizen children whose immigrant parents have been deported, citizen or migrant children living in so-called "mixed status" or "undocumented" families, and unregistered or stateless children living in the country of their birth with their immigrant parents (Bhabha 2009:413)". The three characteristics that they share are: "...they are minors; they are, or they risk being, separated from their parents or customary guardians; and they do not in fact (regardless of whether they do in law) have a country to call their own because they are either noncitizens or children of noncitizens (Ibidem)." Moreover, whatever the categorization, it is clear that the category where a child might fit is completely "fluid and dynamic" (Ibidem; Westin 2008:10).

For instance, undocumented children in Europe are a diverse group ranging from children who are coming to reunite with their family members although not through the official family reunification program of the given host country; children that enter the host country irregularly

_

² "Social constructivism refers to the process by which phenomena in the social world are formed and sustained by social structures and interactions rather than being constants that conform to natural laws (Somekh and Lewin 2005: 348)."

³ In *The Origins of Totalitarianism* (1966) Hannah Arendt writes about the unenforceability of human rights due to *de facto* or functional stateless (Bhabha 2009:410-412).

accompanied by their relatives and who do not apply for asylum; children born in Europe and whose parents are undocumented; or unaccompanied children either sent by relatives or escaping from their home country who decide not to apply for asylum (PICUM 2008:5).

Specifically for this research, undocumented children in Sweden are minors who lack appropriate documentation for residing in the country. In this sense, for non-EU citizens it means not to have a residence permit; for asylum seekers is not to have a LMA-card⁴ and for EU-citizens not to have a proof of right to residence in Sweden or any other Nordic country (Waldehorn 2007:3). This broad conception is what allows that all the previous definitions can be included in the category of "undocumented children in Sweden". Nonetheless, it is important to emphasize that from all the children that fit into this definition, "[t]he largest group in Sweden is likely to be "hidden children"; children who have previously sought asylum and gone underground to avoid deportation. But there are also children who have arrived here in order to work in the informal sector or to visit relatives and others who have been brought by traffickers. Some have fled their countries without seeking asylum (Ibidem: 4)."

General context

Undocumented migrants in numbers

In 2009, the United Nations declared that out of the 200 million migrants in the world, 10 to 15 per cent are considered to be undocumented (UN 2009 cited by Ruiz-Casares et al 2009:329). Only one year later, the International Organization for Migration estimated that there were 214 million international migrants, maintaining the same percentage of irregular migrants that the UN had calculated the previous year. Most of them overstayed their visa or residence permit in the host country. How migrants become irregular can be in different manners. Workers can overstay after their work permit or residence permit expired, migrants can enter the host country without authorization, migrants could have been trafficked and persons can even find themselves in irregular situations because of administrative obstacles or lack of information (IOM 2010:29-30).

⁴ The LMA- card is the Asylum Seeker Card issued by Migrationsverket (Swedish Migration Board). The card proves that a person is an asylum seeker and that he or she has the right to stay in Sweden while the decision is being taken (http://www.migrationsverket.se/info/467 en.html last visited 23rd April, 2012).

Europe is considered to have 60 million migrants (Lancet 2007 cited by Ruiz-Casares et al. 2009:333). Some researches estimate that between 5 to 8 million are undocumented migrants (Ibidem; GCIM 2005 in PICUM 2007:5, O'Connell and Farrow 2007:29 & PICUM 2008:7). Yet, according to Vogel (2009 cited in Düvell 2010:3) the number of irregular migrants in the European Union is not 5 to 8 million, but between 1.8 to 3.9 in the fifteen major receiving countries. 85 to 90 per cent of these irregular migrants are overstayers, either by being rejected in their asylum application and decided to remain in the country or by taking employment when their visas do not allow them to do so (Düvell 2010:3).

The discrepancy in the calculation of the number of irregular migrants in Europe, between GCIM's and Vogel's estimations, seems to be caused by three main factors that have decreased the condition of irregularity. First, the expansion of the European Union allowed that nationals of newly accepted countries were not considered irregular anymore in the host countries; second, regularization programmes have changed legal status of around 3.3 to 4 million persons; and third, more control in immigration policies, borders and labour market (Ibidem).

While trying to put a number of undocumented migrants in Sweden, estimates range widely. In 2007, the Special Rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health expressed that there are approximately 15,000 undocumented persons living in Sweden. Most of them are rejected asylum seekers and some never claimed asylum but overstayed in the country (Hunt 2007:§70). According to an organization created by undocumented persons in Sweden called 'dennaonsdag' (this Wednesday), there are between 25,000 and 30, 000 undocumented migrants in Sweden including previous asylum seekers, who constitute an important proportion of them (Holmgren 2008 cited by Westin 2008:19). Recent research demonstrates that the number could have increased somewhere between 15, 000 and 100,000 (Alexander 2010:216).

Whatever the number is, the mere estimation is controversial but the idea that most of them are rejected asylum seekers prevails. For instance, Baghir-Zada stated in 2007 that there are no official numbers of undocumented migrants in Sweden. Nonetheless, perhaps most of them are

rejected asylum seekers, whilst some other categories belong to people that overstayed once their residence permits expired, persons that entered the country without presenting themselves to any border or migratory authority and children born in Sweden of parents with irregular status (Baghir-Zada 2007:76). In 2010 the same researcher, while expressing that the number of irregular migrants in Sweden is unknown since no quantitative estimations have been made so far, mentions a possible population between 10,000 and 20,000 with irregular legal status; reaffirming that most of them are former asylum seekers (Baghir-Zada 2010:294). In a similar path, Vogel (2009 cited in Düvell 2010:6) estimates there are between 8,000 and 12,000 irregular migrants in Sweden.

From the total of undocumented migrants in Europe, there exist no reliable numbers of how many could be children (PICUM 2008:7). However, it is documented that in northern Europe most undocumented children are part of refugee families whose application for asylum has been denied (Hjern & Jeppsson 2005:125). In the case of Sweden, Westin estimates that "...approximately 1,000 - 1,500 undocumented children live "submerged" in Sweden today and as many again are in the risk zone – they are undocumented but live in the open (Westin 2008:20)."

At the end, to pursue to know the exact number of undocumented children can become a control mechanism. This study that tells the story of only four children and young adults is not trying to prove that undocumented children are worthwhile to be part of investigations because of their prevalence in the Swedish society. It tries to prove that they are worthwhile because they have an intrinsic value as human beings and the importance is not about "how big the problem is" but to facilitate them in the exercise of their voice and agency in their journey, while Sweden responds to their children's rights according to the guidelines of international human rights law.

Constructing undocumented children as vulnerable

Part of the objectives of this research is to recognize children as social agents and to conduct this study under their perspectives in order to achieve a child-rights based interaction. With this in mind it is of overall importance to address the fact that undocumented migrant children are not intrinsically vulnerable because of any of the three conditions (to be *children*, *migrant* or

undocumented), but that this vulnerability is socially and politically constructed and that is how it is perceived in this research.

At first glance, the Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants presents a triple vulnerability of undocumented children: to be children, to be migrants and to be undocumented migrant (PICUM 2008:6). Nevertheless, it can be proven that each of these characteristics that depict undocumented children as vulnerable is both socially and politically constructed. First, in the definition of childhood, governments in the European Union play an important role in constructing the condition of being or not a child by using age assessments that have been proven to have a margin of error up to 5 years in both directions(Fekete 2007:99).

In regard to the second characteristic, to be migrant, this construction of the vulnerability of undocumented children is enhanced by migrant receiving countries implementing more restrictive policies towards migration that have as consequence the escalation of irregular migration (O'Connel & Farrow 2007:27); in addition "...the rights violations that child migrants experience are not the inevitable consequence of migration. They rather reflect a lack of political will to protect the rights of those who move and a prioritising of immigration control over the protection of migrant children's rights (Ibidem: 10)."

Finally, as consequence, the migration policies that care more about national security, construct the vulnerability of migrant children by categorizing their entrance as illegal while leaving the respect of children's rights as a secondary priority (PICUM 2008:8). Even when legality is not a guarantee of security and protection, "…being politically constructed as "illegal" makes it much harder to access services, justice and social protection…" (O'Connell & Farrow 2007:11)."

As an undocumented child in Sweden, which laws protect me?

International legal framework: the United Nations' instruments

Since its foundation, the United Nations has created and opened to signature and ratification several human rights instruments recognized by States Parties as international law applicable in their own borders. A number of these human rights instruments protect undocumented children in the State Parties that have ratified each particular convention. In the following section it will be

explained which international instruments are applicable to undocumented children in Sweden and how, because Sweden has ratified all of them, the country is legally binded to respect the rights proclaimed in them.

- Universal Declaration of Human Rights: Article 26 recognizes right to education to everyone (PICUM 2008:12). Article 25 states the right of everyone to a standard of living adequate for his or her health and well-being and this includes food, clothing, housing, medical care and social services. It highlights motherhood and childhood as entitled to special care and assistance (Ibidem: 46, 72; UDHR).
- ❖ International Covenant of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights⁵: Article 12 recognizes the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health. In addition, the General Comment 14 (in 2000) of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights reads that State Parties must *respect, protect and fulfill* the human right to health by assuring four standards: *availability, accessibility, acceptability* and *quality* (Alexander 2010:218-219; PICUM 2007:6). Moreover, in its General Comment 20 *Non-Discrimination in Economic, Social and Cultural Rights* (in 2009) asserts that "all children within a State, including those with an undocumented status . . . non-nationals, such as refugees, asylum-seekers, stateless persons, migrant workers and victims of international trafficking, regardless of legal status and documentation" are entitled to economic, social and cultural rights, which include affordable health care (Ibidem: 222).

Articles 13 and 14 address the right of everyone to education. In addition, the 8th of December of 1999 the Committee confirmed that the principle of non-discrimination stated in Article 2 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child "extends to all persons of school age residing in the territory of a State party, including non-nationals, and irrespective of their legal status (CESCR 1999 quoted by PICUM 2008: 13)"

⁵ Entered into force in Sweden the 3rd of January of 1976 (United Nations Treaty Collection http://treaties.un.org/Pages/UNTSOnline.aspx?id=3 accessed April 12th 2012).

Article 11 recognizes "... the right of everyone to an adequate standard of living for himself and his family, including adequate food, clothing and housing, and to the continuous improvement of living conditions (ICESCR)."

❖ Convention on the Rights of the Child⁶: Articles 28 and 29 recognize the right of the child to education on the basis of equal opportunity and explain how education shall be directed (PICUM 2008:12). Moreover, the Committee on Rights of the Child in its General Comment No.6 affirms that "the right to education must be guaranteed comprehensively and without any distinction between undocumented children and children whose residence is authorized (Ibidem: 13)."

Article 24 recognizes the right of the child of the highest attainable standard of health and mentions States Parties shall ensure no child is deprived to his or her right to access health care services (Ibidem: 47). In addition to health and very relevant for undocumented children who have experiences of war or public unrest before arriving to Sweden, Article 39 states that appropriate measures shall be taken

to promote physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration of a child victim of: any form of neglect, exploitation, or abuse; torture or any other form of cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment; or armed conflicts. Such recovery and reintegration shall take place in an environment which fosters the health, self-respect and dignity of the child (CRC Art. 39).

Article 27 recognizes "the right of every child to a standard of living adequate for the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social development (CRC)."

❖ International Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Racial Discrimination⁷:

Article 5 guarantees the right of everyone to economic, social and cultural rights such as right to housing; right to public health, medical care, social security and social services;

⁷ Entered into force in Sweden the 4th of January of 1969 (United Nations Treaty Collection http://treaties.un.org/Pages/UNTSOnline.aspx?id=3 accessed April 12th 2012).

right to education and training and right to equal participation in cultural activities among others (PICUM 2008: 13, 45, 72; ICERD). Furthermore, the Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, in its General Recommendation No. 30 stated "(...) Ensure that States parties respect the right of non-citizens to an adequate standard of physical and mental health by, inter alia, refraining from denying or limiting their access to preventive, curative and palliative health services ...(CERD 2004 quoted by PICUM 2008: 46)."

National legal framework: Law Concerning Health Care for Asylum Seekers and Others

In Sweden, undocumented migrants are excluded from the public health insurance scheme (PICUM 2007: 88; Baghir-Zada 2010:293). This means they have access to health care to strictly under "emergency care", "immediate care" or "care that can not wait" paying full cost of the service (PICUM 2007: 89; Alexander 2010: 230). This practice makes Sweden belong to the countries that provide health care to undocumented migrants only on a payment basis. On the other side, countries like Italy and Spain provide the widest health coverage to undocumented migrants of EU member states (PICUM 2007:8). The vague definition of "emergency" or "urgent" makes the decision of who is entitled to which type of service fall under the discretion of administrative staff and not under doctors' decisions taken under medical circumstances (Alexander 2010: 230).

The only exception is for undocumented children who were previous asylum seekers and whose application was rejected. They do have access to free health care services, meaning they are entitled to health and dental care to the same extent as Swedish resident children (PICUM 2007: 8, 88; Alexander 2010: 232; Baghir- Zada 2010: 293). This right is recognized in Swedish legislation in the Law Concerning Health Care for Asylum Seekers and Others, which was passed by the Parliament in May 2008 and entered into force the 1st of July of 2008 (Alexander 2010: 224; Baguir-Zada 2010: 295). This right is recognized to all persons under 18 who belong to any of the following groups:

...individuals who have applied for refugee status in Sweden, are being held in custody for possession of invalid papers or failing to possess papers and those currently temporarily residing in Sweden

because they have agreed to cooperate with a criminal investigation [...] asylum seekers when they have been notified of an extradition order. It does not apply to adults who are hidden [BUT] *All foreigners under 18 in each group* are entitled to health care on the same basis as Swedish citizens and residents (Law Concerning Healthcare for Asylum Seekers and Others 2008 cited by Alexander 2010: 226, emphasis added).

Even when by law one category of undocumented migrants, rejected children asylum seekers, is respected the right to the highest attainable standard of health, two practical problems can be identified: to be able to prove the person is under 18 and that he or she is a rejected asylum seeker (Baghir-Zada 2010: 296).

Regarding the rest of undocumented migrants without subsidized health care, since the aforementioned law does not specify if the payment has to be covered before or after the treatment has been received, in case the payment is requested prior to the consultation, persons without the economic fluency to cover the fee might be deterred to even request the service (Ibidem: 296,312). In practice, undocumented migrants have accessed free treatment for some contagious sexually transmitted diseases, although not including HIV-AIDS or tuberculosis (PICUM 2007: 89).

Considering undocumented children, those that never applied for asylum, according to the law are also only entitled to immediate care. Though, in practice according to a questionnaire survey conducted by Läkare Utan Gränser between July and September 2005 with 102 participants in Stockholm (2005:5), all children receive access to full health care (2005 cited in Alexander 2010: 232; PICUM 2007: 91). However, the real access to undocumented children, both previous asylum seekers and children under other categories, to exercise their right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health is mostly hindered by the fear of their parents to contact public institutions because of the legal constraints they have (Alexander 2010: 232). This fear of contacting health care services, which also impacts undocumented migrants adult's agency in requesting emergency care for them, is in part exacerbated by not possessing knowledge on Swedish legislation regarding healthcare services. For instance, there lacks knowledge of the Secrecy Act, "...which generally prohibits healthcare professionals from

contacting *inter alia* the police authorities and handling over an illegal alien to them (Baghir-Zada 2010: 309,310)."

In addition, the Secrecy Act entitles individuals "...to privacy concerning information about their residences. [Including] whether someone is residing in Sweden permanently, temporarily or legally (Secrecy Act 1980 cited in Alexander 2010: 224)."

According to Baguir-Zada (2007, 2010), who conducted a four year research regarding undocumented migrant's access to health care services in Sweden and the Netherlands using qualitative interviews with over ninety participants⁸, the restrictive environment for undocumented migrants to access health care services in Sweden has given rise to parallel options to the public health insurance scheme, such as the *Private Voluntary Healthcare Initiatives* (PVHI).

This means that undocumented migrants in Sweden are accessing health care mainly through underground clinics and health networks (Baghir-Zada 2007:77). The clinics are located in Gothenburg, Stockholm and Malmö, while the health network operates in Stockholm. In fact, the difference between a clinic and a network is that in the former exists a physical space to receive the patients, while in the latter a phone number is provided and the patients are sent directly to the doctors' offices; this does not exclude the fact that some clinics are functioning as well as networks by referring patients to doctors' premises (Ibidem; Baghir-Zada 2010: 306).

In the access to parallel health care, the strategies that undocumented migrants create are shaped in great part by their ethnicity, their religion and involvement with NGO's (Baghir-Zada 2007: 75- 76). Ethnicity is highlighted by the experience of undocumented migrants to receive assistance and information from co-ethnics, from ethnic communities, in the host country (Ibidem: 80). The role that religion plays in undocumented migrants' coping in Sweden consists in being helped both by persons that share their same religious belief and by religious institutions and persons that do not necessarily share the same religious belief (Ibidem: 81). Finally, how strong the involvement with NGO's can be is affected by the organization's financial and human

_

⁸ This particular ninety participants were only from Sweden's research and over 40 were undocumented migrants and the rest were persons from immigrant's associations, NGO's, religious institutions, professionals providing health care services and police and immigration authorities (Baghir-Zada 2007:75).

capital. Even when NGO's are trying to focus in the whole target group, all undocumented migrants, in practice they need to prioritize according to some characteristics such as the presence of children in the family and urgencies of the migrants (Ibidem: 82).

Even when on the presence of Sweden's failure to "...respect the right to health because it has not refrained from denying or limiting equal access for all persons to preventative, curative and palliative care (Alexander 2010: 233)" and it is clear that by refusing to provide legal protection to undocumented children that are not previous asylum seekers the country "...has not fully conformed to its duties to respect the right to health, to provide health care to all children and to act in the best interests of the child (Ibidem: 234."; the alternatives that the civil society has created through the PVHI by providing fully subsidized physical and to some extent mental health, can not solve the root problem, meaning they can not change the "...status of illegality, socio-economic status, and the unstable living conditions of their patients (Baghir-Zada 2010: 307)."

Previous research

The methodology employed for the literature review presented in this section is a combination of systematic and narrative reviews. The reason it is a combination is because I neither achieved a completely systematic, neither a completely narrative review under Ebeling and Gibbs's (2008:67) requirements; which led me at the end to combine the techniques. It is not a completely systematic review because not "all relevant research (Ibidem)" could be reviewed since some of the literary production regarding undocumented children in Sweden has been written, for obvious reasons, in Swedish and I lack the ability to read the language. The same condition disabled me to access several primary sources, a condition for a narrative review (Ibidem), for instance reports by public Swedish institutes and some Swedish legislation, but also research by scholars.

The texts revised were chosen for different reasons. Some authors were directly recommended to me by academics knowledgeable in the topic of migration. Other texts were searched in the

_

⁹ A systematic review "... identifies and synthesizes all relevant research on a specific topic (Ebeling and Gibbs 2008:67)."

¹⁰ A narrative review "... synthesizes and assesses primary research into a single, descriptive account (Ebeling and Gibbs 2008:67)."

databases of NGO's engaged in the literary production of the theme in question, such as Save the Children Sweden and PICUM. In addition, articles were accessed through electronic databases entering keywords such as "undocumented migrants in Sweden" and "undocumented children in Sweden". The word "illegal" was not included in the search because of its negative connotation; neither "hidden refugees" were keywords to use since undocumented migrants are a larger category. Although it includes hidden refugees, it does not constraint its meaning to them. Finally, as I began to do the literature review related references in the texts were searched to expand the panorama. At last, I obtained both primary and secondary sources which provided the context for this study.

The literature review shows that much concern has been focused on the right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health of undocumented migrant adults and children both in a European and in the Swedish context¹¹. Another set of literature production has been dedicated to the access to economic, social and cultural rights¹² of undocumented migrants (not specifically addressing children, yet mentioning them) in Sweden. A third theme is the exercise of citizenship / non- citizenship of undocumented migrants in Sweden. Finally, research was found that concentrates on several aspects of the life of undocumented children in Europe and some that explicitly address the experience of undocumented children in Sweden. With exception of the right to the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, each of the remaining themes will be developed in the following sections.

Access to economic, social and cultural rights of undocumented migrants in Sweden

Khosravi's ethnographic research has brought to the discussion table the *embodied experiences of being 'illegal'* of undocumented migrants (Khosravi 2010: 95). He conducted ethnographic fieldwork, using the techniques of interviews and participant observation of everyday life, in Stockholm for two years between May 2005 and December 2006 with 50 persons¹⁴ (Ibidem: 96-

_

¹¹ Due to the fact that this right is included in Swedish legislation, this topic has already been addressed in the previous section.

¹² These researches include more rights other than the right to health.

¹³ Although it is previously stated that I do not use the concept "illegal" for referring to undocumented persons, I respect Khosravi's conceptualization of "embodied experiences of being illegal" and that is why the concept "illegal" is used in this lines while acknowledging previous research conducted by Shahram Khosravi.

¹⁴ From the 50 persons, Khosravi worked more in depth with 33 undocumented migrants. The other participants were Iranian undocumented families; relatives, acquaintances and employers of the participants; volunteers of the clinic of

97). The *embodied experiences of being 'illegal'* include not being able to access fundamental rights such as "...work, housing, healthcare, safety and social or family life [consequently an] increased risk of exploitation, illness, abuse, disrupted family life and ultimately premature death (Ibidem: 96)."

Apparently, the life of an undocumented migrant in Sweden is shaped by two main factors. One is the fear of being apprehended and deported which makes undocumented migrants autodiscipline themselves into complying with regulations such as always trying to pay the tram fare (Ibidem: 99; Holgersson 2010: 110,111). The second one is the employment in formal sector due to being excluded from the formal sector and the welfare system (Khosravi 2010: 99; Gavanas 2010). Anna Gavanas, in her study on formal and informal domestic work sector in Stockholm during the period 2009-2010, conducted thirty interviews with domestic workers, managers of domestic service companies and organizations, unions or agencies¹⁵ revealing living and working conditions of migrant workers in the formal and informal domestic service sector in Stockholm (Gavanas 2010: 9-11). The working conditions in the informal sector often include low wages or no payment, uncertainty of duration of employment, to be lent out to other employers and sexual harassment (Khosravi 2010: 100-102; Gavanas 2010: 20, 26-29, 38, 51-56, 67).

The access to housing is usually characterized by being sporadic and unstable, condition that primarily affects children "...whose social connections and networks are locally formed" (Khosravi 2010: 104). For instance, while moving from place to place, the house they occupy does not always becomes a home; children lose the friends they had and lose or change school or day care; in extreme conditions "...children have to stay indoors, keep silent and not attract attention" (Hjern & Jeppsson 2005: 125). It can not be denied that these circumstances hinder a "stable basis for everydaylife" (Khosravi 2010: 104).

N / 4 J

Médecins du Monde in Stockholm where he initiated his fieldwork; and lawyers, police and Migration Board staff (Khosravi 2010: 97).

¹⁵ The participants of this research are undocumented migrants, asylum seekers, Swedish citizens, EU citizens, as well as persons with residence permits; from which 11 were workers, 7 managers of domestic service companies and 12 belonged either to organizations, unions or agencies mostly of migrants, paperless migrants and homeless persons. (Gavanas 2010:11, 83-84).

Several researches have emphasized the importance of ethnic networks. In migrant communities, migrants organize themselves to fulfill their requirements of everyday life such as housing, education, access to employment and access to healthcare (Khosravi 2010; Baghir-Zada 2007, 2010; Hjern & Jeppsson 2005: 121-122; Gavanas 2010). Specifically with undocumented migrants, the ethnic networks are fundamental for access to work in the informal sector and housing outside the mainstream housing market (Khosravi 2010: 104; Gavanas 2010).

Finally, something as quotidian as family life, is also affected by being undocumented. In the person's past, not only families could have been separated by or during the migration process. In his or her present, relationships with relatives might get affected by some of the members having residence permits and others being undocumented. Finally, the person's possibility of constructing new personal relationships in the future, such as falling in love, is affected by the condition of being undocumented (Khosravi 2010: 109-110).

A divergent view on the status quo of social rights for undocumented migrants and asylum seekers in Sweden is the research conducted by Andersson and Nilsson. Based on an analysis of Swedish laws regarding migrants, the authors propose that since early 1990's Sweden has increased social rights and right to work to asylum seekers, while the international trend is to reduce the access to these rights as a way to decrease the influx of asylum seekers (Andersson & Nilsson 2009: 167-169). Evidently this right does not include undocumented migrants.

An example that Andersson and Nilsson (2009: 170) provide of more liberal policies is the temporary law regarding residence permits that applied from 15 November 2005 to 31 March 2006. The law targeted persons which their previous application had been rejected and yet they had remained in the country. Out of the more than 31,000 persons that made use of this law, it is considered that more than 8,000 were undocumented migrants. At the end of 2006, when almost all cases ha been considered, 42 percent had been granted permanent residence permits and 14 per cent temporary residence permits (Slutrapport 2007: 25 cited by Andersson and Nilsson 2009:170).

Civil society pushed towards the implementation of this temporary law organizing the campaign Refugee Amnesty 2005 (Holgersson 2010:111). One of their actions was that on the 7th of May of 2005 protests were organized in different cities of Sweden with the aim that the government granted residence permits to asylum seekers that had previously been rejected (Ibidem). Evidently, not all persons that made use of the temporary law were granted residence permits. If the rejected remained in the country and if the persons whose temporary residence permits also decided to remain in the country after it expired, some of them could easily be part of the experiences mentioned by Khosravi (2010), Gavanas (2010), Baghir-Zada (2007, 2010) and Hjern & Jeppsson (2005).

Further evidence offered by Andersson and Nilsson of increased rights from the early 1990's, for only one category of undocumented children, is the fact that rejected asylum seekers children can maintain the right of receiving health care. In addition, in the case of education an example of the increase of rights is that "...in May 2007 an inquiry appointed by the government recommended that children whose application for residency has been rejected but who remain in the country without permission, should have the right to preschool activities and education (SOU 2007: 34 cited in Andersson and Nilsson 2009:179)". As a result, since then municipalities have been allocated extra funds to include rejected asylum seekers children in their schools (prop. 2005 / 06,1D11; prop. 2006 / 07: 1D16; prop. 2007 / 08: 1D32 cited in Andersson and Nilsson 2009:179). However, Holgersson (2011: 253) states that not only headmasters can decide whether they accept or not deportable children (which can be seen both as something positive because they can decide to do it and something negative because there is no law that grants undocumented children the right to education and that obliges municipalities to accept them), but in case they accept them the school is not economically reimbursed.

Andersson and Nilsson (2009: 183-185) try to explain why Sweden has this trend opposite to other Western states. According to them there are three factors. First, in part because Sweden has a proportionate electoral system that allows smaller parties with strong preferences to impact platforms of the two bigger parties: the Social Democratic Party and the Moderate Party. Second, even so the most important factor to increase social rights was the financial crisis of the 90's. This better explains that Sweden allowed the right to work to asylum seekers if the decision of

their case was deem to be prolonged for more than four months and that in the meantime they could arrange their own housing. Third, the increased social rights that have actually created economic costs are related to children and the authors propose that the perspective of many people is that children are "vulnerable" no matter their background.

Undocumented migrants: citizens /non-citizens of Sweden

On the one hand, the life of an undocumented migrant can be regarded as a *Swedish non-citizenship*, meaning to live in Sweden without a residence permit (Holgersson 2011: 247). Part of this quotidianity has already been described in the previous sections addressing work environments, access to health care facilities, schooling and family life. In this sense, Helena Holgersson, through inductive qualitative research with fifteen men and women that do not have a residence permit and live in Gothenburg, identifies the "non-citizenship as a lived experience (2011: 247-249)". Holgersson's data is collected through "place-sensitive ethnographic encounters", interviews, mental maps of Gothenburg, participant observation and analysis of reports of proceedings in the Chamber and the Parliament, as well as follow up of mass media (Ibidem: 250). To identify the" non-citizenship as a lived experience" implies that the category of a *Swedish non-citizenship* goes beyond a legal status. It includes strategies to live in the city and types of interaction in different settings. To live the *Swedish non-citizenship* can actually be seen as a way to construct citizenship. Holgersson conceptualizes this experience as *everyday acts of citizenship*, meaning working, decorating your home and making friends is a way to become a citizen, to act like a citizen in certain spheres (2011: 250).

Some of the spheres or areas where undocumented migrants negotiate their position in society are the following. First, to hold jobs in not regular working places normalizes their life while at the same time they are aware that the working conditions are not as the ones offered to citizens (Ibidem: 260). Khosravi gives an insight to this situation asseverating that "[t]he migrants' desire to 'work hard' and 'contribute' to a society that actually rejects any kind of responsibility for them indicates the paradoxical aspects of migrant 'illegality' in contemporary capitalism(2010: 103)."

A second sphere are the support organizations that provide spaces to relax while at the same time undocumented migrants usually have to act grateful because power relations between service

providers and service users are not balanced (Holgersson: 2011: 260). It is interesting that Baghir-Zada (2007, 2010) does not include power relations in his research of how undocumented migrants access health care services in Sweden, since the parallel services he studies are clinics and networks functioning as support organizations.

The third space is their house, where people perceive their present and their future and to invest in decorations and personalize the house gives a feeling that there will be a future in Sweden for them (Ibidem: 260-261). The fourth area is the interaction with friends, family and the conditions for creating or not new personal relationships (Ibidem: 260). Should people invest or not in personal relationships? Is there someone willing to invest, to fall in love with an undocumented migrant (Khosravi 2010: 107, 110)?

Finally, there is the very public political sphere. Undocumented migrants have not only remained their acts of citizenship in private or underground activities. They have been public in demonstrations such as the one that the campaign Refugee Amnesty 2005 organized on 7 May 2005 in several cities of Sweden (Holgersson 2010: 111) and the demonstration in Gothenburg on 26 February 2009 where undocumented immigrants asked for a right to asylum (Shakibaie 2010: 6). Furthermore, they have created their own organization , *Papperslösa Stockholm*, and used it as a platform for political activities; for instance, on 23 September 2008 some members of the organization were invited to a hearing at the Swedish Parliament to express their views (Gunneflo & Selberg 2010: 182-186). With these actions, even when undocumented migrants are not considered citizens of Sweden, they are de facto exercising civil and political rights such as Articles 22 and 25 of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. The first one states that "[e]veryone shall have the right to freedom of association with others, including the right to form and join trade unions for the protection of his interests (ICCPR Art. 22 (1))." The second one recognizes that "[e]very citizen shall have the right and the opportunity [...] to take part in the conduct of public affairs, directly or through freely chosen representatives (ICCPR Art. 25 (a).)"

The exercise of *everyday acts of citizenship* and the political engagement of undocumented migrants can impact their own perception of belonging to the Swedish society. Nevertheless, as Khosravi puts it, to be and undocumented migrant is not really about being excluded but excepted

"...they have not been thrown out, but neither are they considered participants. Undocumented migrants are included in society without being recognized as members (2010: 111)."

Undocumented children in Europe and Sweden

As aforementioned, there are no reliable data of how many undocumented children there are in Europe. Moreover, an attempt to acquire the information is hindered by the possibility of undocumented persons of being deported if they get in contact with authorities, which makes extremely difficult to know how many irregular migrant children there are if they belong to those "...who are *not* enrolled at school; who are *not* registered with a doctor; who do *not* report crimes against them... (O'Connell & Farrow 2007:21)."

An important point in child migration and how children are constructed is the fact that immigration law very often conceives children as property of parents and does not see them as actors (Thronson 2002 cited in O'Connell and Farrow 2007: 27). Is in this sense that laws allow the entrance in a country of a child under dependence of an adult or to become dependent of another adult or carer (O'Connell and Farrow 2007:27). Bhabha expands this idea by arguing that not only law enforcement is carried out by adults, but these policies do not have a child-centered focus which leaves claims that arise from unique circumstances of children not being considered (2009: 446). A clear example is the fact that the child's agency in the migration process is rather never taken into account, which means "...children are considered dependent rather than independent; in other words, the concept of "the child" as an autonomous entity does not exist in immigration law (Ibidem)." In the specific Swedish context, research has proved that if an undocumented child is a rejected asylum seeker, it is very likely that individual characteristics of the child and his or her family situation where not taken into consideration by the authorities. On the opposite, general assessments are the routinary practice (Waldehorn 2007:12).

Another circumstance where children are dependent on others to exercise their rights is the relationship between the undocumented migrant children and the state. Despite international law and some domestic law entitling undocumented children with rights, "...Arendt's children lack

¹⁶ In the previous subsection Am I an undocumented child? the concept of Arendt's children has been defined.

access to services because entitlement depends on production of a government-issued document, which migrant children are not given. So the state still retains the monopoly of determining eligibility, despite the universalist aspirations of the human rights tradition (Bhabha 2009: 450, emphasis added)." According to PICUM, this is particularly plausible in the case of unaccompanied migrant children who had been in shelters and decide to leave them without authorization. In general, in Europe when a child leaves a shelter their asylum application gets on hold. Consequently, access to health care, housing and education becomes very complicated (PICUM 2008: 82-83).

So far, the construction of migrant children as dependent has been addressed. An additional characteristic attributed to migrant children is their vulnerability. However, O'Connell and Farrow, in the desk study that they conducted to identify the existing available knowledge regarding "when and why migration violates the rights of the child" and if the analysis is performed from the migrant children's perspectives, explain that to be a child migrant does not necessarily imply vulnerability (2007:7). The vulnerability is socially constructed by the intersection of at least three factors:

- The impact of the destination country's immigration regime on migrant children and/or their parents/carers;
- The economic situation and labour market position of child migrants and/or their parents/carers;
- The impact of racism, xenophobia and other forms of discrimination against some groups of migrants (O'Connell and Farrow 2007:29).

From the aforementioned factors, the first one, the immigration regime, has partially been discussed in the previous paragraphs where the dependence of the children on parents, carers or the state is considered as detrimental to regard that children can have agency in the migration process. In addition, Khosravi's ethnographic fieldwork with undocumented migrants in Stockholm during 2004 and 2006 complemented with fieldwork in Teheran in June 2005 and August 2007 provides information of how Sweden's asylum policy has been more restrictive since 2000 (2009:38). For instance, the harmonization of asylum policies in the EU and the

implementation of Eurodac since 2003, "an electronic fingerprint database" have affected asylum processes (Khosravi 2009: 41). An example in Sweden of how immigration policies impact on the degree of vulnerability is the use of language analysis to determine the country of origin of an asylum seeker, even when ten per cent of these tests can be wrong (*Dagens Nyheter* 16 March 2006 cited in Khosravi 2009: 41). The direct impact of this immigration policy in the construction of a child as undocumented or not in Sweden is clear. In 2000 of all the asylum applicants 42 per cent were granted residence permits, by 2005 only 13 per cent had been accepted (Khosravi 2009:41). The decrease in the number of asylum seekers that have been granted residence permits can be seen as a predisposition for the rise of number of undocumented children in Sweden. This is documented by Waldehorn, in the first annual report of the project Utanpapper.nu launched by Save the Children Sweden, where they find out that it is common that separated children and youths that have been denied their asylum application remain in Sweden undocumented (2007:13).

Regarding the second factor, the position in labour market of undocumented migrant's adults has amply been revised in a previous section¹⁷. Concerning children, O'Connell and Farrow explain that children that have migrated to Europe with their families have been found employed in different activities. Research has proved that child labour is not necessarily detrimental for the child as long as it does not affect his or her education and it is not harmful to the child. However, "... in some European countries migrant children are more likely to work than national children, and *their work is more likely to be illegal* (2007: 31, emphasis added)." In the Swedish context, regarding labour opportunities and regulations, adolescents and their parents that reside in Sweden without documents mostly work under irregular conditions being paid very low wages without any guarantees (Westin 2008:15).

The third factor is by far the most ample because undocumented children are being discriminated first and foremost for their legal status. This discrimination under legal status is the beginning of additional discriminations in several aspects of undocumented children's everyday life, always under the premise of being undocumented.

¹⁷ See Access to economic, social and cultural rights of undocumented migrants in Sweden.

The INGO Save the Children Sweden conducted a project called *Utanpapper.nu* from 21st March 2006 until 21st March 2008 that started as a webpage, a helpline and an e-mail address where undocumented children could be in contact with trustworthy adults. Professional counseling was provided through these contacts and the information could be accessed in Swedish, English, Spanish, Arabic, Chinese and Russian. The project also included admitting children and parents in need of psychotherapeutic treatment at Save the Children's Centre for Children and Youths in Crisis. (Westin 2008: 7- 8; Waldehorn 2007:3-5, 8).

In its second and final report, Sanna Westin explains that by the 21st of March of 2008 Save the Children had had contact with a total of 470 children and young adults residing in Sweden or family members of a family residing in Sweden (2008:7). The places where the contacts were made from were more than a half from cities other than the 3 biggest in Sweden. From these three biggest cities, Stockholm was predominant and contacts from Gothenburg and Malmö were made in a lesser extent (Ibidem: 8). From the 470 children and young adults identified as contacts from Sweden, more than half were in the country undocumented either because their asylum application had been rejected or because they had never applied for asylum (Ibidem:9).

Anna Waldehorn, in the first annual report from *Utanpapper.nu* project, states that one of the first findings was that among the experiences of undocumented children it is fairly recurrent that they are primarily seen as undocumented instead of considering them as children with the same rights as the rest of the children in Sweden as the CRC states (Waldehorn 2007: 11). In the following paragraphs we will see how the discrimination of undocumented children in different aspects of their everyday life is being experienced both in Europe and Sweden in particular.

Education. PICUM produced a report in 2008, based on field trips and over eighty interviews with representatives of governmental institutions and members of NGO'S as well as contributions of experts, that addresses the conditions under which undocumented children in nine European countries are accessing basic social rights as education, housing and health care (PICUM 2008:4). The countries addressed are Belgium, France, Hungary, Italy, Malta, the Netherlands, Poland, Spain and the United Kingdom. The study includes an analysis of legislative measures to access these basic social rights in each country, as well as the identification of the social networks that are facilitating the provision of these rights (Ibidem:8).

Access to education for undocumented children is considered one of the main routes to initiate social and cultural integration into the host society (Ibidem: 11). Furthermore, Hjern's and Jeppsson's research, based on the request for the authors to create a public health care approach for the reception of refugee children in the greater Stockholm area, demonstrates that in the reconstruction of social networks of newly arrived refugees to host countries key parts are the supportive environments (2005:123). In the case of education the supportive environments are the day care, school, and after-school homes. These settings can become a stable space for newly arrived children where they can establish social relations with the host community (Ibidem: 122). Within this context, the strategy proposed by the authors is based on social support and societal intervention rather than trauma-centered approach (Ibidem: 123). In addition, some countries like Italy and France request that in order to undocumented children to receive citizenship when turning 18, they must have had been registered into school during the previous 3 years (PICUM 2008: 11).

The international instruments that protect the right of undocumented children to education have already been presented in a previous section¹⁸. Once these legislations are put into practice, the reality is different because children face practical barriers in their attempt to exercise their right, for instance "...lack of identification document, discretion at the local level, fear of being detected, problems with costs for materials and extracurricular activities, housing problems for these families, and precarious living conditions (Ibidem: 22)." Even when undocumented children attend school, either because it is clearly stated in the legislation of some EU countries, it is implied in its wording or at least not directly prohibited; the reality is that most undocumented children will not receive a diploma or an official recognition of their studies while concluded (Ibidem:35).

In the Swedish context, the NGO Save the Children Sweden in 2008 produced a report where it comments on the Swedish government's fourth periodic report to the United Nations regarding the implementation of the Convention on the Rights of the Child in Sweden, obtaining the

¹⁸ See As an undocumented child in Sweden, which laws protect me?

information from all its organizational levels, meaning national organization, seventeen district associations¹⁹, nineteen local branches²⁰ and the youth association (Save the Children 2008:1-2).

The report depicts that children who do not have documents or have never applied to asylum do not have legal right to education in Sweden. A child whose application has been denied does not loose the right to education unless he or she goes into hiding. Some measures have been taken to enforce the right to education to children in hiding such as a proposal presented by a commission in May 2007 whose aim is "...to give children in hiding the right to education, but other children lacking identity papers are not included in this proposal (Save the Children 2008:22)."

On the other hand, "...there is not ban against admitting them and many heads of school choose to despite the lack of state subsidies in respect of the individual child (Westin 2008: 83-84)." The problem arises when grades and certificates are provided according to national insurance numbers. In this sense, there have been cases of children being hindered the possibility of accessing upper secondary school due to lack of practical routines (Ibidem).

The *Utanpapper.nu* project demonstrated that there have certainly been children discriminated in access to education, especially in pre-school and day care and this is happening, even when most children who were previous asylum seekers do attend to school (Waldehorn 2007: 11; Westin 2008: 15). Furthermore, the difficulty to access day care can sometimes lead to isolation and lack of socialization with other children and adults; in addition, the parents or carers themselves can experience detrimental mental states. Children have presented conditions such as asthma, tuberculosis, bedwetting, deficient teeth hygiene, difficulty to eat, having nightmares or difficulties to sleep (Westin 2008:14).

Health care. In its study of how undocumented children access basic social rights as education, housing and health care in nine European countries, PICUM reveals that Spain is the only country that respects fully the CRC in connection with access to health care for undocumented children, meaning that these children have equal access to health care than nationals (2008: 48). This coverage includes unborn children, meaning that "...undocumented pregnant women are

-

¹⁹Including Västra Götaland Region District.

²⁰ Including Downtown Göteborg Local Branch.

entitled to access the Spanish national health care system free of charge under the same conditions as nationals (Ibidem: 49)."

In practice, no matter the international human rights instruments and national legislation, undocumented children's access to health care is nuanced by the staff's discretionary power, complex procedures to be refunded, immigrant's and doctor's lack of awareness, fear of being detected, language problems, among other situations (Ibidem: 55, 57, 59, 61).

In Sweden, The 21st of May of 2008 the country enacted a new law that granted asylum seekers children and previous asylum seekers children (known as "children in hiding") right to health care and medical services under the same conditions as Swedish children citizens or residents. The law leaves out undocumented children that never applied to asylum, children that once the application for asylum was rejected left Sweden and they returned without reapplying for asylum and children that entered the country as tourists or for work and overstayed. All of them are entitled only to urgent care without subsidies (Save the Children 2008:4- 5). In fact, Khosravi interprets the denial to respect the right to the highest attainable standard of health to undocumented migrants as "a strategy by the authorities to control the number of undocumented migrants and diminish their capacity to reproduce (2010: 107)."

In practice, access to health care is hindered by not being able to afford getting to the doctor or to acquire the medications. Moreover, the fear of the parents of being identified plays a key factor in this situation, plus the insecurity, of some health care practitioners and administrators of health care centers, of how to provide the service to a child who lacks a national insurance number. In addition, the parent's lack of access to health care affects as well the condition of undocumented children (Westin 2008:14).

Considering mental health, the *Utanpapper.nu* project evidenced that some adolescents have fear to adults in their neighborhoods and uncertainty about their opportunities of forming a family on their own. On the other hand, younger children have created more a sense of belonging to Sweden, especially since they have been in the country for a long time. Nonetheless, some expressed fear of being arrested and deported (Ibidem: 15). Undocumented children that have undergone family break-ups due to the migratory process frequently express feelings of guilt and

feel disturbed by the separation. Many children that have already experienced violence due to interventions from the police have made fear part of their everyday life (Ibidem: 53).

Housing. PICUM, in its abovementioned study, finds out that even when the right to decent housing is protected by several international instruments, none of the European countries that were subject to analysis include this right for undocumented children with families in its national legislations (2008:74). This lack of legislation leaves children in irregular families outside the scheme of social housing and with major problems to enter the private housing market (Ibidem: 86).

Sanna Westin, in the second and final report of the *Utanpapper.nu* project, states that in Sweden, according to the Social Services Act, the services are to be provided to the persons that reside within the perimeter of the determined area. In this sense, the Social Services Act in its wording makes no exception of undocumented children. "[T]here is nothing in the law to prevent an undocumented child from being placed in family accommodation or that the family receives income support or other social allocations (Westin 2008:82)." Nevertheless, the problem of having real access to exercise this right is hindered by the Aliens Ordinance where it is stated that "...the local social welfare committee is bound to inform the police the first time a measure is adopted in a case, if it relates to a foreigner who has not applied for leave to remain even though she or he was under a duty to do so (Ibidem)." Since the scope of this study involves undocumented children living with their families, the strategies to access housing are considered to be the same as the ones described in the section *Access to economic, social and cultural rights of undocumented migrants in Sweden*.

Family ties. Save the Children Sweden, in its second and final report of the *Utanpapper.nu* project reports that one of the main concerns of the persons that contacted the helpline during the two years that was in function, was the break-up of the family unit due to immigration rules. In some cases this had already happened from the beginning of the migratory process itself (Westin 2008: 13-14; Khosravi 2010: 109-110). The panorama for this practice to change does not seem favorable. According to Westin, in Sweden the Aliens Act regulates the right of family reunification. It states that children have the absolute right to reunite with a parent that is legally residing in Sweden. An unaccompanied minor can apply for reunification with his parents under

Sweden's territory if he or she obtains leave to remain under the need of protection; otherwise this right is reserved to be exercised in the country where his or her parents reside. Nevertheless the right to family reunification, according to Swedish law, does not apply whatsoever to asylum seekers and undocumented persons (Westin 2008: 85). This is another example of how Bhabha illustrates that immigration policies are not child-centered "...adults can bring dependents to join them, but children cannot bring relatives on whom they are dependent to join them (2009:448)".

In conclusion, this literary review proves that the interest on undocumented migrants in Sweden has been escalating in recent years. Most of the research has been focused from a rights-based perspective either in the legal framework or on the human rights framework. Nonetheless, a lot still need to be done in connection with discovering how undocumented children perceive this reality already depicted by their grown-ups counterparts. Moreover, how they are constructing their own reality and how they conceive themselves in the following years in Sweden. In its conclusions, PICUM (2008) makes this very clear: "it is only through a better knowledge and awareness of the reality of these children that it will be possible to promote specific policies for their integration and protection (2008: 88)." Nonetheless, first we need to know what is it that they expect from Sweden, if it is precisely integration and protection or something else.

Chapter 2- Theoretical framework

Children as social agents

According to Hatch the concept of childhood is a cultural invention in the sense that the elements used to define it depend "...in every culture, in every time period, in every political climate, in every economic area, in every social context (1995:118)." The context where the social construction of childhood takes place is defined as "...a culturally and historically situated place and time, a specific here and now (Ibidem: 141)." Moreover, the personal social interactions that create everyday life create that specific here and now. Consequently, the context is relational because it shapes the child and the child shapes the context in a dialectic interaction (Ibidem: 143). In fact, it can be understood that in everyday life there are "... a multiplicity of times and

spaces all weaving into and interacting with each other (Hernes 1988:104 quoted in Morgan 1996:139)."

It is in this framework where the structural sociology of childhood enters into place because it identifies childhood in a structural context while conceiving childhood as a structural phenomenon due to the fact that it is structured by its context while structuring it at the same time. Therefore, in order to understand everyday experiences of children, their lives need to be linked to the macro-level context and analyze how they impact each other (Alanen 2001a:13). Alanen proposes that this macro-level context should be the "generation", since it is through this concept that children are defined as a social group and consequently distinguished and separated from other social groups (Ibidem). However, I will apply this perspective using the social construction of "undocumented" as the macro-structure that conglomerates the participants of this research. Moreover, the concept "undocumented" is the one that certainly distinguishes and separates them from having all their children's rights respected and fulfilled.

The fact that "people become" or "are constructed as" children or adults involves agency since this construction is understood as a practical process (Alanen 2001b:129). In the specific case of children, to recognize their agency goes beyond identifying them as social actors and implies the analysis of the powers or lack of powers of the child "...to influence, organize, coordinate and control events taking place in their everyday worlds (Alanen 2001a:21; Alanen 2001b:131)." Alanen identifies these powers to be determined by the generational structures within which children are positioned (2001b:131). In addition to the generational structure, in the case of undocumented children in Gothenburg I identify another structure that plays an important role in their agency which is precisely to be defined as "undocumented".

Interpretative Reproduction

The socialization during childhood can be understood as the "...process of appropriation, reinvention and reproduction" of adult's skills and knowledge (Corsaro 2011:20). It is through collective interactions that "... children negotiate, share and create culture with adults and each other (Corsaro 1992; James, Jenks and Prout 1998 cited in Corsaro 2011: 20). Nonetheless, according to Corsaro the concept of socialization has an individualistic connotation. To overcome

this constraint he coins the concept of *interpretative reproduction*, where the first term addresses "...the innovative and creative aspects of children's participation in society" and the second term alludes to the fact that children do not simply internalize the society and culture in which they participate, rather children "...are actively contributing to cultural production and change (Corsaro 2011: 20-21)."

This idea of understanding childhood as a phenomenon where children are not mere receptors of the world, but that children are social agents in the construction and reproduction of it can be identified in Qvortrup's structural perspective of childhood. The author assumes childhood as a particular structural form, where both childhood and adulthood are exposed to the same societal forces and that children are coconstructors of childhood and society (Ibidem: 31). In this sense, interpretative reproduction includes three kinds of children's collective actions: appropriation from adult's world, production and participation in peer cultures and contribution to reproduce adult culture (Ibidem: 43).

Alanen's structural sociology of childhood and Qvortrup's structural perspective of childhood similarly consider that external factors to the children themselves are part of their degree of agency. However, they differ in the origin of these external causes. Alanen identifies the allocation of a specific generation as the main macro structure that hinders or allows children to exercise their agency; while Qvortrup identifies children as being influenced by the same societal factors as adults while having agency constructing their own childhood and therefore society themselves.

In this research, both views work complementing each other because undocumented children in Gothenburg are located in a generational perspective as children versus adults, while at the same time both undocumented children and undocumented adults are being exposed to the social force of being constructed as "undocumented".

Symbolic interactionism

"A perspective is an angle on reality, a place where the individual stands as he or she looks at and tries to understand reality (Charon 2007:3)". In other words, a perspective is the point of view from which we perceive reality and we can have many different perspectives according to the

place where we stand, the role we play, at a given time. Furthermore, each perspective we have is a partial vision of the reality, though it is our reality (Ibidem: 11). Particularly in this research, the participants' perspective is that of persons holding different points of views as children, young adults, migrants, undocumented migrants, rejected asylum seekers, daughters, sons, sisters, students, parishioners, and so on. On the other hand, my interest of grasping the phenomenon of everyday lives and expectations of undocumented children in Sweden from their own perspectives is framed by me standing on the perspective of symbolic interactionism.

Through the conceptual framework of symbolic interactionism persons are seen as: a.) social persons that are constructed by the *social interaction* with other persons; b.) as *thinking* beings whose human action is caused by interaction with others and interaction within themselves in thinking processes; c.) persons *define* their environment according to their social interaction with other persons and through personal thinking processes; d.) the three previous characteristics of *social interaction, thinking* and *definition* of the environment are performed in the *present* and the way we use previous experiences is by applying them to define our present; e.) finally, persons are conceived as *active beings* by being *actively involved* in what they do, meaning the *social interaction, thinking* and *definition* of the environment (Ibidem: 29-30).

This means that the symbolic interactionism conceptual framework recognizes persons, and in this research I specify it to children and young adults, as social agents because identifies humans as dynamic and rational problem solvers (Ibidem: 189). In a nutshell, a person is viewed "as maker, doer, actor and as self-directing (Ibidem: 190)."

Chapter 3- Methodology

Induction and Deduction

The two principal methods of scientific activity are deduction and induction. Deduction is when the analysis initiates in a general premise (theory) from which the outcomes (the particular) are deduced. In induction, the observation and analysis of potential patterns in the data leads to the construction of an explanatory theory or the application of a preexisting one (Greig and Taylor 1999: 39; Gilbert 2008: 27).

The qualitative approach for doing research with children is based on the inductive method. This idea that theory is created from data goes hand in hand with the construction of the child as subjective and whose "understanding, knowledge and meanings" are also subjective emerging from social interaction in a given context of time and space (Greig and Taylor 1999:43). For this reason, in qualitative research the methodology used implies theory based on interpreted data. The collection of data can be achieved through "observations, interviews, conversations, written reports, texts (Ibidem)". An important characteristic of this exercise of interpretation is to do it from the perspective of the child because "situations, meanings, problems are defined in interaction with others (Ibidem: 44)".

In this particular qualitative research on how undocumented children and young adults live in Gothenburg, Sweden; I have used a mix of inductive and deductive methods. In fact, Charles S. Peirce claimed that deduction, induction and abduction are all stages of scientific investigation (Terra Rodrigues 2011: 132). Abduction is the "... creation of explanatory hypothesis for the facts [...] consists in studying facts and devising a theory to explain them (Ibidem: 135, 138)", similar to induction begins the process in the particular and moves towards the general (Ibidem: 135). Even when I believe that the analysis of the data must lead to the application of existing theories or in the best outcome to the construction of theory that reflects the lived experiences of undocumented children and young adults in Sweden; I can not deny that as a human being I am also the product of social constructions and that I have preconceived ideas that have led me to the desire of initiating this research and to define research questions from particular standpoints. In this sense, I am also making use of deductive methods by stating, *a priori* the analysis of the collected data, my position regarding children as social agents and how the social interactions that we conduct shape our behavior while we construct meanings in this dialectic relationship.

Phenomenology

In addition to make use of a mix of inductive and deductive methods, the objective to study everyday life experiences of undocumented children and young adults in Sweden from their own perspectives makes the use of phenomenology an appropriate method for recollecting and interpreting the data.

"Phenomenology is the study of lived, human phenomena within the everyday social contexts in which the phenomena occur from the perspective of those who experience them (Titchen and Hobson 2005: 121)." My standpoint is mainly the direct approach of phenomenology, where I look for participants to "...reflect on, and talk about, their subjective experiences of phenomenon in interviews (Ibidem: 122)". Nonetheless, the interpretation of the data is planned to be done by using the indirect approach of phenomenology, "interpretation through dialogue with texts [transcripts] (Ibidem)." In practice, this means that my main technique for obtaining the data from the perspective of the undocumented children is through qualitative interviews and the method for processing and analyzing the data collected will be by making an interpretation of the transcripts of the recorded conversations that the participants and I will construct together.

Since I am not an undocumented child or young adult and I have not applied ethnometodology to imbue myself with the everyday life of undocumented children and young adults, a characteristic of the direct approach of phenomenology is how I used observation. First of all, observation can not be a "key method because [me, the researcher] cannot reliably access participant's subjective meaning contexts (Ibidem: 126)". Meaning that not being myself an undocumented child or young adult and not applying ethnometodology, I can not feel or correctly appraise how and undocumented child or young adult experiences his or her life in Sweden, unless I ask them directly in order to access these experiences from their own voices and perspectives. Nevertheless, during the unstructured interviews I shared with the participants examples of common experiences, like living in a small overcrowded apartment, which generated further discussion. This exchange of shared experience during in –depth interviews is part of the direct approach of phenomenology (Ibidem).

The use of the direct approach of phenomenology during the questioning through the unstructured interviews is clear by the open-ended questions proposed to the participants which aim was to "encourage reflection upon everyday experience (Ibidem)", while looking to clarify how is the undocumented children's and young adult's "...understanding of their conscious ways of construing social contexts, situations and logic by which they conduct their activities (Ibidem)."

Unstructured research interview

Once I have exposed the use of both inductive and deductive methods as well as phenomenology as the way of constructing knowledge in this research, I can present the methodological tool through which the data will be gathered: the unstructured research interview.

Kvale and Brinkmann define an interview as "...a conversation that has a structure and a purpose [...] the purpose of producing knowledge (2009: 2-3)." The base of the research interview are the conversations of daily life (Ibidem: 2.), which makes the tool appropriate for the objective of describing and analyzing the lived experience of every day life of undocumented children and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden. In addition, unstructured interviews are quite adequate when the topic is sensitive or complicated (Fielding and Thomas 2008: 248). The participants of this research share the condition of being undocumented migrants and in some cases to have a deportation order pending at the police office. This situation confers the topic of this research to be a sensitive one.

The aim of in-depth interviews, such as unstructured research interviews, is to understand the experience of the other person and the meaning he or she makes of that experience (Seidman 1991: 3). During the interview the meaning is jointly constructed by the interaction between researcher and informant (Mishler 1986: Ch.3; Kvale and Brinkmann 2009:2). One particularity of an unstructured interview is that the researcher has a list of topics that he or she needs the participant to talk about; the phrasing and order of the questions are dependent on the researcher's judgment on when it is more appropriate to raise the topic (Fielding and Thomas 2008: 247).

In the construction of the interview guide and during the interviews, the phrasing of questions aimed to respect the two principles of research interviews: open-ended questions and encourage communication (Ibidem: 249). Appendix 1 shows how the topics were addressed by open-ended questions in most occasions and the general practice was to request for participants' descriptions of events, emotions and lived experiences both in pre-defined topics, topics raised by the participants and in follow – up questions during the interviews.

Sample definition

In qualitative research, purposive or judgmental sampling is used when there is no other feasible method to reach participants (Greig and Taylor 1999: 59). It is a judgmental sampling because as a researcher you decide whether the participant has or not the lived experiences necessary to take part in the research (Ibidem). In reality this is rather complicated because you do not know for sure if the participant has or not the required experiences until the interview interaction is taking place. In a sensitive situation as being an undocumented child or young adult, asking several times whether the person is actually undocumented or not can lead to break the beginning of the trust-process. This is how I ended up interviewing a child who is still in the asylum process.

Furthermore, when it comes to the specific case of doing research with children, before reaching this face-to –face interaction where children could decide whether to participate or not I faced the mediation with two types of gate-keepers. In an attempt to reach a wider spectrum of undocumented children I tried to reach participants through different entities such as personal contacts, non-governmental organizations, religious organizations and educative institutions.

Within this institutional context the first type of gate-keepers I had to negotiate with were the contact persons of the families of the undocumented children. The contact persons varied in functions and type of interaction with the children. For instance, one of them was a headmaster of a school, another person was an activist and employee of a youth center, another person works independently on a regular basis with one undocumented family though their first contact was a religious organization, others were representatives of religious institutions such as a priest and two deaconesses, other persons were members of NGO's that work and advocate for undocumented migrants, another person organizes meeting events for migrants and finally another contact person was a co-ethnic of two of the participants.

The second type of gate-keepers is the parents of the undocumented children. In the cases were the contact persons have accepted to invite the families and introduced me in person to them, the parents have always accepted that their children take part in the research, while some of the children have agreed to participate and another one decided to withdraw from it after the interview had concluded. At the end of the fieldwork the access to one couple of parents was denied to me by a NGO who claimed the right to decide whether people making use of their

services could talk to me or not inside its building. This restraint made me loose the chance to confirm if one teenager had decided to take part of the research.

In addition to a purposive or judgmental sampling and a self-selective sampling, a variety of snowball sampling has been used with the institutional gate-keepers. Usually, an institution or a contact person of the family of undocumented children have given me the contact of other institutions or contact persons of other families which sometimes has led to potential participants and at times to dead ends. In the beginning, a key characteristic of snowball sampling was being intentionally breached. The fact that the identification of further sample members of the same network "...continues until no further sample members are obtained (Sturgis 2008: 180)" was not being applied with the intention to have participants contacted from various institutions or persons instead of attempting to interview all participants contacted from the same institution. The intention of this practice was to have a broader representation of participants with different backgrounds such as country of origin, ethnicity, religious beliefs and adherence to social or institutional networks. Nonetheless, as the process of getting hold to participants evolved I realized that even when the original idea of looking for participants in different institutional contexts was to have a sample as diverse as possible; in reality it became rather difficult to even get hold of enough participants.

The need of accessing potential participants to this research through gatekeepers makes it difficult to know with certainty how many negative responses I have had directly from the children or young adults and how many were not given the opportunity to decide whether they wanted to participate or not.

In total, twelve institutional gatekeepers were contacted during the research process. The reasons, provided by the contact persons, for which invitations were not extended to potential participants include that that they did not feel comfortable in doing so; they did not consider appropriate to extend the invitation; they felt they did not have a strong trust bond with them or they did not have regular contact with the potential participants and assumed they would be too afraid to participate (personal communication with 3 different contact persons).

In research with persons under 18 years, the importance of accessing children and at the same time the difficulty of accessing them when the research topic is a sensitive one is brightly illustrated by Smith while she states that "[r]esearch on sensitive topics can be so difficult to do that children are excluded entirely from becoming participants in such research (2011:18)." In fact, "[t]he conflict between ethical concerns- to protect the children from harm, and their right to express their views and participate- is a particular concern for sensitive topics (Ibidem)." The author gives the example of a research conducted by Atwool in New Zealand in 2008 with the original objective of rescuing the perspectives of children that had been in state care. Due to the obstacle that implied the ethical guideline of having the consent of all the significant adults in the children's lives as a requirement for conducting interviews directly with children, the result was that all children were excluded from the research and instead social workers were interviewed (Ibidem:19).

Finally, in the process of contacting potential participants I had a personal constraint. Not being able to speak Swedish hindered my ability to approach directly to potential participants and to depend entirely on contact persons, gatekeepers and eventually on interpreters. I believe that, while doing qualitative research through interviews, being able to communicate directly with interviewees is fundamental to create a link and trust between the participant and the researcher. Moreover, these encounters and conversations previous to the actual research interview can facilitate to have a better interview. In my case, since I do not speak Swedish and most of the informants spoke a little bit of English, this interaction prior and subsequent to the interview was also dependent on the interpreter as intermediary of the participant and me, not leaving enough space to further communication.

Validity and trustworthiness

According to Seidman, It can be considered that the research that uses qualitative research interviews has validity if we accomplished to understand how the participant understands and makes meaning of his or her experience (1991: 17). Moreover, under a symbolic interactionist perspective the interview is "...based on mutual participant observation", meaning the validity of data is achieved by the mutual understanding between researcher and participant (Fielding and Thomas 2008: 263).In this sense, the fact that the interviews have been conducted with an

interpreter calls to reflection regarding the actual achievement of mutual understanding between the participants and the researcher²¹.

A further way of confirming validity of the data is that during the analysis of the data you can pay special attention to internal consistency during the interview and possible external consistency (Seidman 1991: 19). Accordingly, Kapborg and Berterö state that in qualitative research internal validity is the one of most importance. Internal validity is considered to have been achieved when "... the researchers demonstrate the reality of the participants through a consistent line and quotations from the interviews (Kapborg and Berterö 2002: 54)".

In a process of reflection regarding how far I have achieved internal validity within the interviews, the use of some leading questions and not always asking appropriate follow-up questions have taken part in some interviews. I will not try to find excuses, rather to point out possible reasons for these inappropriate situations by reinstating my lack of proficiency in both English and Swedish, plus feeling insecurity at some points of the interview when I could see the interviewee was getting tired and me having the feeling that the interpreter was translating neither idiomatic nor verbatim.

Nonetheless, after analyzing the whole interviews I believe this research has sufficient internal validity if we take in consideration the extensive quotations that reinforce the statements by providing in different wording similar ideas not only from the same interview, but in some cases different participants making stronger other participants' statements.

Ethical considerations

Düvell poses a very interesting ethical consideration for under research of undocumented migrants in small countries caused by the fact that informants and locations could be identified easily (2010: 3). The way I consider this ethical dilemma in my research is by avoiding mentioning names of non-governmental entities where the contact with undocumented children was achieved. Furthermore, locations of contacts and meetings with the children have been kept confidential for almost everyone that is external to the research. Even inside the facilities the

-

²¹ This reflection is addressed in the following section of *Ethical considerations*.

reason of my presence there has been kept concealed as much as possible to the persons that are not the direct contact person or parents of the child that will participate in the research.

Furthermore, in the following chapter where the results and analysis of the data are presented, in the participant's quotations all first names, names of places and any other data that can make the country of origin, address or places of regular mobility of the participants are anonymized with symbols or different names.

Informed consent

On the subject of informed consent, in research with children under the age of 15, informed consent shall involve both the child in question and the adult or adults that have parental responsibility. Informed consent is about facilitating the child knowledge in three basic points regarding the research: first, that he or she decides if he or she wants to participate in the research or not; second, that he or she knows he or she can withdraw from the research at any point he or she decides so; and third, he or she knows exactly what is expected from him or her if he or she decides to participate in the research (Greig and Taylor 1999: 149-150).

The first two basic points were clearly stated in writing in the informed consent form and in speech at the beginning of each interview. The predefined informed consent form provided by the coordinator of the International Masters Program in Social Work and Human Rights at the University of Gothenburg, Sweden was personalized for this research with children and young adults. The changes included a line for the parents to express their permission for their child to participate and another line for the child to express his or her acceptance to participate in the research. Due to the sensitivity of the research topic, I expressly requested both parents and children not to write their names in the forms but to write with their own handwriting their corresponding permission and acceptance to participate. In some cases the participants wanted to sign and I only requested that in their signature their name could not be deciphered for matters of confidentiality. The only person that wrote a name, instead of a signature or the legend "I accept to participate in this research" was a young adult. Nonetheless, he expressed that under that name he was not recognizable in Sweden.

Moreover, the fact that people decide whether they decide to participate or not via the informed consent form, makes the sample to be self-selective (Seidman 1991:42). An example of self-

selectiveness, from the fieldwork for this research, is the decision of withdrawal from the research taken by a child almost two weeks after we met for the interview. In this case, the family was first contacted through the mother, who gave the consent to interview her daughter. This conversation was performed through an interpreter who translated from the mother tongue of the woman to English and vice-versa. Second, the contact person of the family, who works on a regular basis with the girl, invited her to take part in the research and the girl accepted.

Nonetheless, once we met for the actual interview and the contact person was functioning as interpreter from Swedish to English and vice-versa, during the explanation of the form of informed consent the girl expressed to me she was not sure if she wanted to take part of the research or not. At this point, I proposed to her several options: a) we could just get to know each other that day and we could conduct the interview in a further meeting; b) at some point the girl proposed that we could start trying with some questions and she would start answering and I clarified that if we did that then we would actually be performing the interview; c) since she hesitated at this I told her that if she was at least a little interested we could start with the interview and she could tell me to stop at any moment. She finally agreed to the third option. Since she never asked to stop and we actually concluded the interview, at the end I asked if she would let me use or not the information and she restated she was not sure. Therefore we agreed that in the following days she would let me know her decision. A couple of days later she told me, through her contact person, that she did not want me to use the information without giving further explanations. I actually find her decision as a proof of children's agency and decisionmaking capacity. Moreover, her decision to withdraw from the research can be interpreted as a successful connection and trust between participant and researcher (MacNaughton and Smith 2005 cited by Smith 2011: 20-21).

Finally, regarding making explicit what was expected from the participants during the interview, during the invitation to participate it was made clear that the interview would consist of a conversation. At the moment of the interview it was stated that what the participant felt and thought was the right answer, since there were really no right or wrong answers but the participant's answer was the one I cared about.

Children's risks in participating

According to Greig and Taylor (1999: 154), it is important to consider the potential emotional, physical, social and psychological risks children have while participating in a given research. Assessing what I require participants to do in order to obtain the information does not seem to imply any physical, emotional or psychological risks. There is in fact a social risk of evidencing their lack of legal status, which in turn could have legal and social consequences for them. This social risk is considered to be worthwhile for two reasons. First, children's and young adults' participation in the research implies their recognition as active social agents. Second, the recognition of the specific participants as co-constructors of his or her everyday life by recognizing the importance of his or her perspective of his or her situation.

In addition, a type of debriefment was facilitated in the final stage of the interviews where I changed the roles of researcher and participant and invited the participants to ask any questions or doubts about me as a person and about the interview. The aim of this exercise was to make a reflection of power relationships between them and me as participant and researcher and as child and adult.

In the interviews with children, I wanted to make evident to them that I recognize that they possess power in different ways. For instance, as Punch (2001:23-24) evidences the relationship between children and adults is not one of dependency but of mutual interdependencies that are continuously redefined according to the context where the interaction is taking place. Another way to recognize this interdependency was in the wording of the invitation letter issued to the participants, where I stated I needed their help to write my final assignment in order to graduate.

Interpreters as intermediaries

Valdés and Angelelli define an interpreter as a person who works in different settings and whose function is to "...mediate the communication between many different types of interlocutors, and use their two languages to convey the spoken discourse of individuals who speak one of their languages to individuals who speak their other language (Valdés and Angelelli, 2003: 58-59)." According to the same authors, the action of interpreting is defined by professionals of interpretation and translation "... as the rendering of one message produced in one language (the source language) into another (the target language) (Valdés and Angelelli, 2003:59)."

Moreover, the role of an interpreter within research has been analyzed by several authors; Kapborg and Berterö try to explain themselves the validity of their research conducted using ten interviews with future Lithuanian nurses aided by English-speaking interpreters. They define the role of the interpreter either as someone that provides "...verbatim translation, in which the interpreter acts only as a conduit between the interviewer and the interviewee [...]; or acting more independently –dominating the interview- when involved in an intervention (Kapborg and Berterö, 2002: 52-53)".

Regarding the use of interpreters in order to be able to conduct the interviews for this research, it is important to clarify that an interpreter was needed in three out of four interviews. The role of the two different interpreters was not to perform a verbatim translation for two main reasons. First, because the verbatim style of interpreting looks for "…linguistic accuracy at the expense of sensitivity to emotional components of an interview (Jentsch, 1998:284)." and I was certainly looking for sensitivity regarding the research topic. Second, because both interpreters were not professionals, meaning they are neither a hundred percent fluent in English and neither have been trained as interpreters.

Another factor to take into consideration while performing cross-language research is the degree of openness the participant can demonstrate towards the interviewer while having a third person as intermediary of all the speech exchange. Taking as point of departure the literature review that Williamson et. al. present as part of the research note they wrote from their cross-language research, that included 19 first- time couples and 29 grandparents²², the role of an interpreter in qualitative cross-language research that shares common characteristics with the research participants requires to acknowledge that "...the comfort and familiarity that can result from matching interpreters and research participants on certain characteristics can also limit the breadth and depth of interview data (Murray and Wynne 2001 cited by Williamson et.al., 2011: 383)."

In the three interviews were the interpreter was required, the child or young adult had already a previous, and apparently positive, relationship with the interpreter. In two interviews the interpreter was a person collaborating at a religious institution were the participants are members.

-

²² The interpreter worked with the non- English speaking Chinese grandparents.

In a third interview the interpreter was a person who had been providing recreational activities for several months in an organization from which the participant had been taking part. Consequently, in every case the participants had a previous established relationship with the interpreter which was reflected in the easiness with which they expressed themselves.

This previous contact is also recognized as a fact that might have hindered the two children's and the teenager's confidence to express themselves fully, since the interpreter was someone they were going to keep seeing and having contact with. Moreover, the interpreter was someone that knew their parents and at some point could breach the confidentiality we had agreed upon in case he or she could have decided that some information provided by the children or teenager could put the participant or it's family in risk. Nonetheless I believe the participants felt confident with the interpreters and to show this impression I will quote a girl's phrase to look at the delicate information that some participant's felt confident enough to share with me while having an interpreter as intermediary:

Ana: And how did you find this family [we were talking about her foster family]? Participant: It's through the social services because one time I went to the doctor and said that I had tried to kill myself several times. The doctor got worried and sent the... like after that to the social services and I said I could not live with my mother anymore.

(12 year old girl)

Then again, when the interpreter and the participant belong to the same ethno-cultural group, the social position of the interpreter within this group can affect the participant's performance during the interview (Edwards, 1998; Murray and Wynne, 2001 cited by Williamson et.al., 2012: 383). In both interviews were the interpreter and the participant shared ethno-cultural background, I could perceive that the interpreter either seemed to add to my interventions while translating into the participants' mother tongue and in occasions not always translated into English all that the participants had expressed. In this sense, I believe that if the interpreter perceives the children as social agents or not is fundamental to the attitude he or she took while performing the simultaneous translations.

Parent's presence

Another factor to take into consideration is the presence of the children's parents during the interview. In this research, only one interview was conducted with the presence of the child's mother. Children that participate as informants in research, have the right to decide whether their parents or carers be present in the research interview (Alderson 1995 cited in Mudaly and Goddard 2009:267).

Even when this practice was not considered ideal by the researcher because the youngest participants were already 12 years old; this right was respected and one of the interviewees decided he wanted his mother to take part in the interview. The impression is that the mother and the interpreter were trying to guide the boy at some points of the interview. In order to neutralize this action I continuously affirmed the boy that his words, his impressions, his feelings and his thoughts were the ones that I was interested in and that I believed what he was telling me.

Anonymity

With reference to anonymity, following the idea of children as social agents I suggested each participant to choose the pseudonym he or she wanted me to use for the report. The background of the proposal is to allow the child to select a name with whom he or she feels comfortable with and feels identified with in order to decrease the level of objectivation that the use of pseudonyms or codes can have on the image that the reader will create of the participant while reading the quotes extracted from his or her oral statements.

Following this exercise two participants requested not to remain anonymous. One informant motivated this decision by explaining that she wants the world to know her story. Another informant expressed that he was brave, he was not afraid of people knowing his name and that he was proud that he had answered all the questions of the interview. First, the desire to participate in the research and second, the desire of their real name to appear in the research report can be interpreted as children's and young person's desire to be heard and to their points of view to be taken into consideration in matters that impact directly their life. Children and young adults want to be the protagonists of their own stories as well as the storytellers of them and not depend on adults to speak for them. Somehow, this is what this research is trying to be, a mean through where undocumented children and young adults can tell the story of their everyday life and the

rest of us let ourselves be amazed with them and take as point of departure their points of view in the creation of policies that affect them.

To decide whether to use the names of the participants that requested me to do it or to make them anonymous was not an easy decision. On the one hand, Piper and Simons (2005: 57) describe how the anonymization of participants is a way to offer confidentiality of the data and protection of the participant's private life. On the other hand, in Harcourt's (2011:42-44) research with 25 five and six year old children in Singapore where children measured the quality of their experiences in pre-school settings, children asked for their real names to show in the research report. The children thought using their real name would should who they really were. Harcourt comments on this that "[g]iving children the option to determine how they wish to be referenced in any written work is an important aspect of respecting children and invites them to hold a degree of control as active participants (2011:44).". This idea is in line with this research's objective to hear, make visible, describe and analyze the everyday life and future expectations of undocumented children in Gothenburg, Sweden from their own perspective. As Parker (2005: 17 quoted in Kvale and Brinkmann 2009:73) states, even when anonymity can protect the participants of a research, a side effect can be to "deny them the very voice in the research that might originally have been claimed as its aim".

Nonetheless, children's right to decide how they want to be referenced is constrained to the fact that there is in fact no risk involved for them to show their real name (Harcourt 2011:44). With all this in mind and taking into consideration that the research is being conducted in Sweden, the standpoint of the Swedish Research Council's expert group on ethics is the one that guided my decision to finally use pseudonyms. The Declaration of Helsinki, in its latest version of 2008 Article 23, states that "[e]very precaution must be taken to protect the privacy of the research subjects and the confidentiality of their personal information and to minimize the impact of the study on their physical, mental and social integrity (Declaration of Helsinki, quoted by Swedish Research Council 2011: 69)." This is how, for matters of respecting the ethical guidelines for doing research by the Swedish Research Council's expert group on ethics, I decided to use to refer to the participants of this research by their age and gender.

Children at risk

While working or doing research with children, an important factor to have clear is which procedure to follow in case you identify a child as being at risk. In the particular case of undocumented children, to think about which measures to take is of overall importance because the regular guidelines of contacting institutions such as the social services or the police are not an option when the family in question has been issued a deportation order or is hiding from the police.

As in the case of deciding whether to respect or not the decision of some of the participants of not anonymize them, the procedure to follow in case I encounter a child at risk during the research is determined by the fact that the research is being conducted in Sweden. It is in the Swedish law that if "a researcher, through his or her work on a project, becomes aware of something that legally must be reported (e.g. child abuse or paedophilia)" he or she is obliged to report, leaving the professional secrecy in second importance (Swedish Research Council 2011:68). Nonetheless, in the situation of meeting a child at risk, in first instance, I would try to talk to the child without the presence of the person who is putting the child in risk and I would ask the child if he or she wants to take measures regarding the situation. In case the child does not want to take any action I would inform him or her of my legal responsibility to take precautions and discuss with him or her available options. The discussion together and the precautions that I would take would always be in tune with the child's rights to be informed, to participate in decisions that directly affect him or her and having in mind the principle of the best interests of the child; all according to the UNCRC.

In this particular case of undocumented children, the available options are not the police or social services, but the relevant NGO's that have been active in the arena of undocumented migrants in Sweden and in Europe. For instance, Rosengrenska, Ingen Männsika är Illegal, Save the Children, Roda Korset, PICUM and religious institutions that I am aware are providing services to undocumented migrants.

In a second glance, there is a need of change in the social policies of Sweden in order to include all undocumented children and their families in the provision of all the services that include the Swedish welfare state. If not viable in the near future, at least an emphasis needs to be placed in the needs of undocumented children at risk to be able to receive the necessary support through governmental institutions to the same extent as Swedish children or children with permits to reside in the country. An example of how social policies can be changed is the campaign launched by Ingen Männsika är Illegal called "Ain't I a Woman?". The Swedish network successfully advocated through this campaign for the acceptance of undocumented women that experience domestic violence into women's shelters.

Analysis

In the following section the profile of the research participants, the technical considerations during the interviews and the transcriptions of the interview data; as well as how the analysis is conducted are presented.

Profile of the participants

The testimonies provided by four research participants give sustain to the next chapter. In total I conducted five interviews, but only four are used in the analysis because one interviewee decided to withdraw from the research. From the remaining four I will give a brief profile without breaching the participants' anonymity.

The first participant is a 19 year old undocumented young female adult. She comes from the Middle East. By the time of the interview she had been living in Sweden for two years. The interview was conducted with the help of a female interpreter, in this sense the cross-language dialogues went from English to the teenager's mother tongue and from her mother tongue to English. Her experiences include having lived in Sweden as undocumented while she was still under 18 years old, as well as her experiences now as an undocumented young adult.

The second participant is a 12 year old boy who is in the asylum process. He comes from the Middle East, from the same country as the previous informant. By the time of the interview he had been in Sweden for six months expecting the answer from Migrationsverket regarding the acceptance of his refugee status or the denial of the same. His mother was present during the interview. The interview was conducted with the help of the same female interpreter that helped me during the previous interview, interpreting also from his mother tongue to English and viceversa.

The third participant is a 12 year old undocumented girl. She also comes from the Middle East, but from a different country than the two previous participants. By the time of the interview she had been in Sweden for four years, from which one or two had been already as an undocumented child. The interview was conducted with the help of a male interpreter, in this sense the cross-language dialogues went from English to Swedish and vice-versa.

Finally, the last participant is a 26 year old undocumented young male adult. He comes from Eastern Europe. By the time of the interview he had been in Sweden for one year and nine months, from which two months had been already as an undocumented migrant. The interview was conducted in English. His experiences addressed in this research include both entering as undocumented to a European country while he was 15 years old and also his experiences as an undocumented young adult in Sweden.

For matters of protection to the participants, I deliberately do not mention the exact country they come from and mention instead the geographical area where the country is located. The gender and age of the participants has not been changed and this will be the information I will use when quoting them in order to make possible for the reader to identify who provided which information.

Technical considerations

The interview settings tried to be as child-friendly, in the case of the minors, as possible. Three interviews were conducted in religious institutions. From them, in two interviews the space and general setting was rather comfortable, nonetheless we had a couple of interruptions during both interviews. According to the interpreter, to perform the interview in the religious institution had been the choice of the participants, plus it suited her the most.

For the third interview that was conducted in a religious institution the space we used was not comfortable at all. There were no proper rooms available and the three of us had to sit down in a small storehouse with no windows or ventilation. During the interview we were once interrupted by someone who needed to take out something from what was kept in there. The religious institution also suited the best for the interpreter because this place was his only meeting point with the participant.

Regarding the fourth interview, the one conducted only between the participant and the researcher; I asked the participant to choose the place were we could sit down and talk for approximately an hour. He decided to leave the decision to me and we used a study room from a public library. The space was adequately furnished and provided enough privacy.

The four interviews were conducted between the 20th of March and the 3rd of June of 2012. They lasted between forty two to forty eight minutes each. A verbatim transcription of each interview was systematized. This type of transcription was decided in order to continue the analytical process of the data (Fielding and Thomas, 2008: 257; Kvale and Brinkman, 2009:180-181). The following use of symbols was required during the transcriptions: words in between parenthesis () mean the researcher's notes or impressions regarding body language or something that was expressed by non verbal communication; and words in between brackets [] mean that the researcher was not able to understand or decipher what has been told, meaning the verbal communication was unintelligible once the transcriptions were carried out.

Once the verbatim transcripts were concluded, the next step was the coding process. Coding is the "...process of assigning conceptual labels to different segments of data in order to identify themes, patterns, processes and relationships (Hodkinson, 2008:87)." The codes were both concept driven and data driven. "Concept-driven coding uses codes that have been developed in advance by the researcher, [...] whereas data-driven coding implies that the researcher starts out without codes, and develops them through readings of the material (Kvale and Brinkman, 2009: 202)." This process of using both pre defined codes and to construct codes out of the analysis of the transcripts responds to the phenomenological approach where I interpret the participants' responses (which I initially intended them to answer certain themes from the interview guide) and make sense of them through their own context and their own interpretations.

The interpretation of the data is planned to use both direct and indirect approaches of phenomenology. The application of the direct approach is patent in what I aim to construct with the analysis, which is a typification of participants' own understandings. This typification "...describes and interprets way participants made sense of a situation and which were either common to all participants or to all instances within one case (Ibidem)." The typification is the construction of the categories identified in the content of the interviews. In this kind of

interpretation I will make use of the inductive method by trying to "...understand participant's constructs by leaping from objective to subjective meaning context – achieved through bracketing/suspending prejudices and prior theoretical understandings (Ibidem)." Meaning, being aware of my preconceptions I will intentionally leave them aside while identifying and defining the categories that will function as the guideline for the analysis of the data.

On the other hand, how I will construct this typification is more in line with the indirect approach. The analysis of the transcriptions will be the product of the use of hermeneutics in two senses. First, my own interpretations will work in "...dialogue, dialectically with the text within hermeneutic circle"; second, the analysis of the transcriptions or texts will itself be a "hermeneutic circle – reiterative process of looking at parts in relation to a whole and whole in relation to parts (Ibidem)."

This means that on the one hand, my interpretations and my theoretical framework will be generated from the analysis of the transcriptions of the interviews and in a circular process my own interpretations and theoretical background will impact the analysis of the defined categories. On the other hand, the analysis of each transcription implies to see the connections between a particular category with the rest of the text and the connections and interactions between the whole transcriptions with particular categories. In another level of analysis, each transcription will be considered as a part and all the transcriptions together will be considered the whole.

Chapter 4 - Results and Analysis of Interview Data

In the following chapter the results and analysis of the four interviews are presented. Before presenting the data generated through the interviews I just want to mention again that the production of this social interaction between each participant, the interpreters and the researcher was understood by the researcher through the lenses of symbolic interactionism. Symbolic interactionism implies that human behavior is social. Through social interactions we develop shared meanings. Therefore stories do not represent individual life but they are a social production (Earthy and Cronin, 2008: 426).

As a researcher, I impacted the social construction of each participant's story by making use of the interview guide. With it I highlighted and shaped the story instead of focusing on the whole life of the participant. I mean that I helped them to construct their life from an undocumented person's perspective because that was my objective and I deliberately left aside other periods of their life.

Moreover, stories are also part of political processes because power structures define what type of stories can be told and in which manners and which stories are not allowed to be told (Ibidem: 426-427). This is especially important when analyzing the generated data, because as much rapport, openness and confidence that could have been created during the interview, the overall structure in which these stories are being told limited the participants or could have made them overemphasize their experiences in order to make a statement they could have thought appropriate to the objectives of the research.

Results and Analysis

The following pages will show and interpret the codes that were predefined both by the general themes contained in the interview guide, as well as the codes that were constructed by the phenomenological analysis of the data generated by the interviews. The codes themselves are aligned in a way that the research questions can be answered by the analysis of the participant's experiences.

❖ MIGRATORY STATUS

In order to analyze the participants' experiences, it was important to hear from them that their migratory status corresponded to an undocumented child or young adult. Three out of four participants were rejected asylum seekers who by the time of the interview were undocumented. The time they had been living in Sweden as undocumented migrants varied and in some cases was not clear. One participant stated that her papers had already been sent to the police and one of them mentioned clearly several times during the interview²³ that there was a deportation order pending on him:

Ana: And why don't you have the documents for being in Sweden?

Participant: I really don't know it about that because we gave our case to Migrationsverket.

They didn't accept our reasons and they told use that we are lying.

Ana: So, you applied for asylum and they rejected?

Participant: Yes.

(19 year old young female adult)

23 These quotes will come later when addressing future expectations and job access.

Another testimony is the following:

Ana: And what happened, why did you ended up living in Sweden without permission?

Participant: My father died in (home country). They murdered him.

Ana: And did you apply for asylum here in Sweden?

Participant: Aha. We applied for asylum but we were denied and the papers were sent to the police.

Ana: Okay. How long ago were they sent to the police?

Participant: One or two years ago.

(12 year old girl)

The final quotes express not only one participant's migratory status in Sweden, but also previous experience, while he still was under 18 years, as rejected asylum seeker in another country:

Ana: And since when have you been here (we were talking about Sweden) without permission?

Participant: About two months.

Ana: and you have told me that you have applied for asylum, right?

Participant: Yes

Ana: And, why did they reject your application.

Participant: Because, because there my situation is kind of hard, not hard, but because of my country they will gonna make it come in the European Union so they want to send everybody from my countries, not just only me. A lot of people they want to send back to them country and to wait that we will, that we should come in the European Union and then after that like to be free.

(26 year old young male adult)

The oldest participant's experiences, the one who is 26 years old, are double valuable because he is still a young adult (a person up to 29 years old) and because he had previous experience as asylum seeker while he was still under 18 years old:

Participant: When I have go to the Germany I was 14 year, 99, it was not war in the (home country). And then in this time I go to the Germany, my mother have paid for somebody that she, that she'll bring me to the Germany... over the grants. And then I was in the asyl process. But it was the problem because I was... I was 4 years there, so I was in the school and everything. But 2004 when was the prime minister (the name has been removed for identity protection of the participant) he has said that everything is fine in the (home country). It's no war. It's no nothing. Everybody should return back. My brother and my sister they have get permission because my, they was before me into Germany. But for me my stepfather he don't want to [sign], so and then after that I must to go back.

(26 year old young male adult)

***** IDENTITY

As previously addressed in the section of "Anonymity", a common factor among three interviewees was the desire to be identified by their real name in the research. This desire was expressed during the informed consent process, where their signature or a self-written phrase of

acceptance of participation in the research was requested; and also a pseudonym decided by them was asked for. Two participants clearly stated they wanted to be identified by their name:

Ana: Do you want to choose the name that I can write in the paper? Participant: Oh, is okay to use my name. (19 year old young female adult)

Participant: I think it is good that my name is here because I will be the voice of some other children (he wanted to write his name and that I did not use a pseudonym in the report). Should I sign this, because I have a signature if you didn't know that.

Ana: but, is your name in the signature?

Participant: You can not read my name when I do my signature.

Ana: then you can sign if you want to.

Participant: I am very brave, I am not afraid.

Ana: Ahm... You can choose what name I'm going to write in the paper.

Participant: I like my name very much. (12 year old boy in the asylum process.)

A different way of expressing the desire of making use of their real identity was the use of a second name to express their will to participate in the research. This attitude is interpreted as a need of recognition as a person with a personal name and not as an anonymous informant.

Ana: And I would like you to sign this, because then I need to prove that you did sign. And I think we

can just like...

Participant: Mhm... okay. My name or...

Ana: No, no names. Or, can you...could I read your name in your signature?

Participant: Yes Ana: Then no. Participant: Okay

Ana: (he wrote a name) But is that your name? Your real name?

Participant: No

Participant: this is my second name

Ana: I don't want anyone to be able to recognize you Participant: No, it's okay. Here no one will recognize me.

(26 year old young male adult)

Finally, another participant stated her identity by signing with the first letter of her name. Nonetheless, I am not completely sure if she wanted me to use her name in the report because the dialogue hold between the informant and the interpreter was not translated to me into English and I did not make an appropriate follow-up question requesting the interpreter to clarify the meaning of her words. The interpreter's final translation was that it was up to me to choose the pseudonym for the informant.

The position informants take regarding their own identity put on the table the discussion of children and young adults as social agents. Three out of four participants of this research identify himself or herself as someone with a personal identity and with a possibility of agency in the moment they make themselves visible by wanting their real names to be used in the quotes or by signing the informed consent form with second names (which are still their names and perhaps the name usually used in their home countries and therefore providing a stronger sense of belonging).

❖ EVERYDAY LIFE

In order to enter into the participants' ideas regarding the concept of everyday life I asked them to talk about an ordinary day of their life. From the activities, feelings, emotions and experiences occurred during the span of time of 24 hours, the following categories could be identified as transversal to the everyday life of undocumented children, young adults and one child who is in the asylum process.

Everyday life includes several aspects of the participant's lives such as feelings, school, interpersonal relationships, use and meaning of the church, segregation, housing arrangements, access to healthcare, access to economic life, and use of the public and private space, among others.

The following information is included in the research report in order to answer the first research question: How is the everyday life of undocumented children and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden constructed and experienced?

Feelings: fear and resentment towards the failed asylum process

Every day life include what we do on a regular basis and feelings generated within this activities. In the approach to participants everyday life, some of them first elicited feelings rather than activities. In this section are included the feelings that the young adult participants expressed regarding their everyday life. There is no attempt to generalize these findings to the other participants. The fear feeling was only identified in the daily experiences of one participant. It is evident that this feeling takes part of his everyday life as it is present in several moments of his day. The fear feeling constrains this young adults' right to live with the highest attainable standard of not only physical but mental health:

Ana: Like how is one of your days?

Participant: My days is like, when I go to sleep I've been afraid. When I wake up I've been afraid. Even when I go into city like example to, to, to meet someone who is important for me, it's afraid because I must to look in every corner if is there police or if somebody following me is this means like I have been like, I have been like murder or something like that. So it's something like that. And then it's scared, even if you don't have. You can not go like free person in the city to buy like example shoe or, you know to go somewhere. Even if you are very young and the young people love to go into disco or to walk with friends and I can't.

(26 ear old young male adult)

Another feeling identified as part of the two young adults is a resentment towards the failed asylum process. This resentment is considered to be part of their every day life because it is connected to the way they make use of the city of Gothenburg, meaning how their spacial mobility is being constructed from the feelings they have included as part of their life.

Regarding Migrationsverket, one participant stated:

I don't like people, when you tell the truth to them they call you liars and then you lie to them they say: okay, it's right. They are kind of stupid. I have learned you have to tell the truth. We told the truth and they call us liars so I don't like that. They are stupid and mean.

(19 year old young female adult)

The other participant verbalized the feeling of resentment while making a recount of what he had been through during his asylum process. His resentment had been constructed due to the way he had been treated during the asylum process and by having the impression that his migratory process had not included enough research from Sweden's officers:

Participant: I was been into five places. They have deport me from one place to another place and then they have playing with my mind because in this time (home country) have opened the grants to say like that. So and then 18 thousand people have go and search asyl process. And then migration have think that I've been one of them, so that's why they have played with me like they have sent me to another different places because they don't know if they should process me in this time or no[...] They have called some person who is supported to speak about (his nations) problems and he works in embassy and he has said [...] oh fine, no problem. But there is a problem. But he's in Sweden [...] The people is ... I think the migration is stupid, theoretic stupid. If I will gonna say, like example if I will gonna say I've been the terrorist or I have killed a lot of people. Then they would gonna say "Oh välkommen, come sit, you are going to get permission to stay in my country.

(26 year old young male adult)

School

The schooling involves three of the four participants, the two children and the young female adult. As social actors, social agents and social human beings, children and young persons that go to school spend a large amount of their time within this institution. Therefore, the research interest went beyond their access or denial of going to school, to explore the relationships that are being constructed inside this institution regarding social interactions with peers and with adults.

According to Corsaro (2011) children acquire information and produce information through the interpretative reproduction. This dialectic interaction is perceived in some of the relationships that the two participants interviewed in this research expressed that occur in their schooling environment. For the three participants that will be quoted in this part the school has a meaning in the establishment of friendships and trust relationships with Swedes and/or foreigners like them.

It is important to mention that none of the informants of school age have been denied their right to education, just like the CRC and the ICESCR provides them²⁴. As a matter of fact, the three of them identified attending school as a part of their everyday life when I asked them to describe an ordinary day of their lives:

I carefully wash my face every morning. Is very important with my hair. It is important for me. I go to school. Then I do my homework everyday very carefully.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

So, in the beginning of the day I go to school, then I come home and maybe watch TV or go out in the summer. And some football practice as well.

(12 year old girl)

Wake up in the morning of course. I go to school so I get up very early. I usually go to the library directly from school. Sometimes I come to the church directly after the library and sometimes I go back to home.

(19 year old young female adult)

The school as a place and of socialization with peers is transversal in the three interviews that correspond to the informants in school age. In this sense, one of the three children's collective actions within Corsaro's interpretative reproduction is being put into action. That is the

62

²⁴ For further information read the "As an undocumented child in Sweden, which laws protect me?" section.

production and participation in peer cultures (Corsaro 2011). The different ways the participants are producing and reproducing peer culture is addressed in the following quotes:

Ana: and how is school?

Participant: it is very good. I have many friends there.

Ana: Do you like your school?

Participant: Yeah!

Ana: why?

Participant: I play a lot with children there. Is very good, free school. We can play very much. Because in (home country) school is not that happy. The principal is always angry with you if

you play or are happy or smiley. It is not like this, they want happy children here.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

The girl and the young female adult who attend to school demonstrate the same importance towards making use of the school as a place where friendships are built with peers. Nonetheless, it is possible to recognize conditions of racial segregation in their everyday experience of going to school:

Ana: And how is your relationship at school with your classmates?

Participant: I got only one friend in the school. But we are close.

Ana: And where are your classmates from?

Participant: I go to special class so this is only for children from other countries and other

backgrounds so it's foreigners. Only foreigners.

Ana: Do you speak Swedish with them?

Participant: Yes.

(19 year old young female adult)

Finally, the third participant that will be quoted in this section is not only living racial segregation in connection to the origins of her classmates, but is experiencing an environment of discrimination and racism. The words of this girl give a panorama of a Gothenburg built with racial or ethnic enclaves.

Ana: Ahm...How is your school?

Participant: I think it's good. I like it there. But many children are being mean to me about my situation as undocumented immigrant.

Ana: And how do they know that you don't have papers.

Participant: They just know it. I don't know how they heard it from around. There is another kid here who is also looking for asylum here but they don't tease me a lot about it so it's not so much.

Ana: They don't tease the other girl but they tease you?

Participant: Now they tease both but only sometimes, so not so much.

Ana: and how is your relationship with your other classmates, the ones that don't tease you?

Participant: I have five friends in my class and the other kids they are nice to me sometimes but sometimes they are mean to me. There are forty students in my sixth grade and we are separated into two classes so there are many kids there. [...]Other undocumented immigrants

can come there too. And everybody there is an immigrant in some way so there is like no Swedish people, like ethnically Swedish people.

(12 year old girl)

In the relationship these three participants have built with the adults participating in their own schools, we can identify the remaining two actions that can be analyzed through Corsaro's (2011) interpretative reproduction concept: one action is that it is happening an appropriation from adult's world and at the same time the second action is happening by the contribution to reproduce adult culture within the school setting. Two participants mentioned to have problems or difficulties with at least one teacher. On the other hand they have in general a good relationship with the rest of the teachers and in one case adults are being actively supportive towards the paperless condition of one participant.

Ana: and what does your teacher do, does she know they do it (we were talking about how some of her classmates tease her for being undocumented)?

Participant: aha. The teacher has told them to stop and now the immigration service knows about it and the police knows about it because the principal has reported it. They say that it's racist and that some of the kids have done the Heil Hitler thing so it's been reported to the police.

Ana: do you like to go to this school?

Participant: Sometimes

Ana: And what do you like about it? Participant: I like some of my teachers.

Ana: do you have a good relationship with your teachers?

Participant: Yeah, I have a good relationship with my teachers except for one. Her name is Amanda and she is very mean and she said to me that I wouldn't pass certain thing at school and that I couldn't say that, so I had to go to the principal and tell her that. And I was really sad and I had to stay home first from school for two days and then I changed class so I am with a different teacher.

Ana: do you like the principal of your school?

Participant: Yes. He's very strict but I like him. They have several rectors. One of them is very strict and he is kind of scary but very nice too.

(12 year old girl)

The appropriation from adults' world and the reproduction of their culture is identified by the concepts the girl has acquired in her speech. In the language she uses to express herself within interview it is possible to identify that she has acquired concepts such as racism and the recognition of the breach of her rights. Moreover, she has developed the idea of fighting for the respect of her rights and this is clear when she decided to denounce with the principal the teacher's threat.

A similar scenario of some sort of repression from a teacher is mentioned by another participant, yet he has not had actions for defending his rights as the previous participant:

Ana: and... how do you get along with your teachers?

Participant: with one of them I have a little problem. Her name is Mary. She is not so kind to

me. So she...

Ana: Is she your teacher?

Participant: Yeah. She says all the time "be quiet, be quiet". Even if we are singing all of us,

she comes to me and says "Be quiet" always. I don't know why.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

Finally, there is an entirely positive affirmation of a good relationship established between adults in school and one participant by stating: "They are very good teachers. It's a good environment. I think (19 year old young female adult)."

In synthesis, school is playing an important element when it comes to children and young adults. They are constructing and reconstructing arrangements with peers while establishing friendships with them and at the same time in some cases experiencing discrimination from them. On the other hand, interactions with adults within the school setting can also be supportive and at the same time some mistreats are identified by some participants.

Housing arrangements

The analysis of this theme brought several positive situations that add new information to the literature review regarding the subject. For instance, one participant has access to a foster family and another one lives with a Swede under comfortable conditions.

Some of the patterns that are the same as previous research has already demonstrated include the conditions of living in small overcrowded spaces and to live in houses and/or neighborhoods where undocumented migrants do not feel entirely safe or secure:

Ana: Ahm. How is your house? You can draw it if you want.

Participant: Okay. It's a little apartment. It's one room and one kitchen and the bathroom.

Ana: And how many persons live there?

Participant: it's me, my mom and my brother, kid brother.

Ana: And how do you feel to live in a small house?

Participant: I haven't thought about that because I don't want to think about that.

Ana: Mmm... Do you like the neighborhood were you live?

Participant: yeah

Ana: Do you feel safe in the neighborhood?

Participant: This area is not so safe and before I was always scared to be there alone but since I got close to Jesus I don't feel that and I am very brave. Not like myself, so it's not like me but it happened to me that I am very brave now.

(19 year old young female adult)

The overcrowded housing conditions for one participant were a very complicated situation that created on her a lot of stress due to fact that she was in the need of sharing a house with persons that she barely knew in advance:

Ana: ahm. Can you tell me how is your house?

Participant: I live with my mother's friend and it's not very nice at all. It smells really bad. This friend's husband or ex-husband was an alcoholic, they are separated now but the [stain/stink/smell] doesn't go away. It smells really bad. And the person that lived before that was some old crazy person who wrote stuff on the wall and it is really ugly and smelly.

Ana: So, do you live four people in that house?

Participant: No three

Ana: The man doesn't live there any more?

Participant: yeah, we are four. But she divorced her husband so he doesn't live there, but she has a son, who is an adult but he lives there too. .

Ana: do you get along with them?

Participant: no Ana: why not?

Participant: I don't know them.

Ana: Have you been living with them since you came here.

Participant: No! It's just been for a few days. I also have this foster family so I'm only at this

place sometimes.

(12 year old girl)

The same need to share a house with some other family appears to be less complicated or stressful when the child is still in the asylum process and no negative decision has been taken yet:

Ana: Now, let's think about your house, your home. How is your home?

Participant: is okay

Ana: How many persons live there?

Participant: We are a family of three, my mom, my dad and me. But it is in an apartment we

live and there is two other people: a lady with a child.

Ana: And they are... are they your family?

Participant: No

Ana: do you share the apartment?

Participant: Yes

Ana: And how do you feel to live with someone else that is not your family?

Participant: For me myself is okay, but I don't speak for my mom and dad. It's only me I am

talking.

A: yes, only you. And do you get along with this other lady and her son or her daughter?

Participant: Yes.

Ana: And do you like the neighborhood were your house is?

Participant: Yes.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

In contrast, two new housing arrangements for undocumented migrants were discovered during the research that were never revealed in the literature review of previous research. The first novel housing arrangement that will be discussed is the access to a foster family as an undocumented child. In addition, this participant showed a firm sense of belonging to the neighborhood where she sporadically lives with her mother while she manages to provide overcrowded housing arrangements to her daughter.

Ana: Is the foster family a Swedish family?

Participant: Aha. Swedes

Ana: And, how many days per week do you live with them?

Participant: I am almost always at this foster family but on Wednesdays and Thursdays I am with my mother.

Ana: and how did you find this family?

Participant: It's through the social services because one time I went to the doctor and said that I had tried to kill myself several times. The doctor got worried and sent the... like after that to the social services and I said I could not live with my mother anymore.

Ana: was that when you were in the asylum process or after they rejected the papers?

Participant: No, this was just in this January, so it is not long ago (this means that she was assigned a foster family 5 months before the interview took place, and in the beginning she had stated that she had been without residence permit in Sweden for 1 or 2 years)

Ana: And where do you prefer to live? With the foster family or... do you move around with vour mom?

Participant: Yeah, my mother has to move around and I don't really like either.

Ana: Do you like the neighborhood were you live with the foster family.

Participant: No, I don't. They live in (a neighborhood known by its bicultural families). I like it here in (one of the neighborhoods were most of the inhabitants are foreigners).

Ana: Do you feel safe in this neighborhood?

Participant: Aha

Ana: And do you feel safe in the neighborhood were the foster family lives?

Participant: No Ana: why not?

Participant: I am not familiar with (a neighborhood known by its bicultural families). I have never lived there or been there.

Ana: And why do you like this neighborhood?

Participant: Because there is many people here and many of them are my friends. And like many people in Gothenburg feels that this is like a dangerous area but I say it is the other way around. It is like a very nice area.

(12 year old girl)

The access of this undocumented girl to services provided by the social services, the same that to persons who even if they have a residence permit but do not have the personal number are denied; is a proof of the willingness of some persons to make reality the rights of every child enshrined in the Convention on the Rights of the Child. Moreover, the experience of this girl is a proof of the capability of the welfare state to provide social security to those persons whose rights

are being violated, by respecting international law to which Sweden has already made a commitment to comply by signing and ratifying the documents.

The second novel housing arrangement that was not found in previous research is to share a house with a Swede under his or her invitation, without being overcrowded, without paying overrated rents by subletting a room because no contract can be signed directly by an undocumented migrant, and to actually have respected the right to decent housing:

Ana: And what about the housing?

Participant: I have, where I have lived in (a city were a migration's camp is), I have meet one person and maybe I have known him one month and then I have explained to him my story and everything and he have to have in the plan that he should buy the house here in Göteborg. So he said if you will gonna have a problem so come to me and then I will gonna take care of you. So, (laughed) this is what they are friends, to say it like that.

Ana: So right now you live with friends.

Participant: Yeah

Ana: And do you have to pay rent?

Participant: No. Nothing

Ana: Do you have like enough space for you? Like a room for yourself?

Participant: Of course, I have one room so it's big house to say it like that, it's two floors, there

is five rooms to say it like that, two toilets and one big living room and kitchen, so...

Ana: And do you like living in this place?

Participant: Of course, it's better from my country (laughed).

Ana: (laughed) And what about the neighbor... the neighborhood where you live? Do you feel comfortable in that neighborhood?

Participant: Yeah. Because there is a lot of Swedish person.

Ana: And, ahm... how do you, like how are the relationships inside this house? You like to live here, you feel comfortable at this house, you are lucky to live with a friend and you do not have to pay rent. And how do you divide the chores? Who has to do what?

Participant: Ash...There is not, not choice because I have say to him that he must nothing do it because I can cook, I've been educated for this. I can clean. He is going to work. It's good relation because he must not say to me "hey do that, and do that or do it", so it's normal conversation like he goes to work at 6 o'clock, so I wake up at 6 o'clock I going to jogging and after that I take care of the house so I clean everything and... so when he comes everything is done.

Ana: Ahm... is he a Swede or is he a foreigner?

Participant: He's, no, he's Swedish.

(26 year old young male adult)

The experience of this last participant puts a lot on the table of discussion. On the one side his housing arrangements could be interpreted as a rise of civil society fighting on a daily basis, without political statements, for the rights of undocumented migrants. The proposal of this Swedish citizen regarding free housing and food could be an inspiring attitude that could become a social movement; and since helping undocumented migrants is not illegal until it is not done for obtaining economic benefits; this type of housing arrangements could be promoted without any

retaliation for those who are making their effort to respect the right of every person to have a

house.

The other side of the coin is that the exchange of house and food for chores could become an

exploitative relationship where the undocumented migrant could become a sort of slave of the

person who is providing these basic needs. This scenario does not seem to be entirely remote if

we remember the many stories of domestic workers and child carers that end up being exploited

to an almost slavery degree around the world.

Interpersonal relationships

Interpersonal relationships include interactions between the participant and any other person. In a

previous section the interactions established inside the school setting were addressed, in this

section we will include interpersonal relationships established inside the participant's

neighborhoods and in public places while emphasizing the degree of acceptance from the

Swedish society.

Scarce mobility within their neighborhood was common in three participants' way to experience

their everyday life. The informants describe factors such as lack of mastering the Swedish

language, fear of being in public places and even the perception of racism towards them as

situations that hinder the participant's mobility and the establishment of interpersonal

relationships within their neighborhoods and in general in public places.

A 12 year old boy in the asylum process says:

Ana: And do you have friends in the neighborhood?

Participant: No

Ana: Do you go out and play in the playground?

Participant: no, never

Ana: Why not?

Participant: Because I don't have any friends [playmates]

Ana: Have you tried to make friends with the neighbors?

Participant: No

Ana: do you trust in your neighbors?

Participant: I think it is two reasons. Is like my Swedish is not so good and the other thing, they

don't show that they want to be friends with me so I don't go to them either.

Interpersonal relationships with neighbors and in with persons in general in public places are also

difficult to establish for a 19 year old young female adult:

69

Ana: Do you have friends that live in that neighborhood?

Participant: The same girl that is close to me (a friend from school), she lives in the same area, so we go together.

Ana: Do you trust in your neighbors?

Participant: none on them I trust to go and ask for help or something.

Ana: Why not?

Participant: Is in elevator and we were going up to our apartment and I have met the neighbors in the house in the elevator and they don't... I feel that they reject me and they don't look at me and that I feel very away from them so I don't go to them of course.

Ana: Have you tried to reach them?

Participant: I always say hi when any of my neighbors if I met them in the stairs or elevator but they don't respond kindly or they don't respond at all, so, but I do it anyway, so, just say hi. Ana: And how does that make you feel?

Participant: Sometimes I get very hurt because I know that they don't know me and my character. So why are they responding like this to me is not based on my personality so it hurts me.

Ana: And, when you go there (we were talking about going downtown) you are in the middle of many people walking around, right? Do you feel safe there?

Participant: I think it's very tough but at the moment I choose to not think but anything but bringing them to salvation, so I just pray.

(19 year old young female adult)

The social cohesion of the neighborhoods were the participants live is not enough for providing them with a solid social network. The participants seem to lack in great degree of social capital within their neighborhoods. This situation is reinforced by the fact that the 12 year old girl and the 19 year old young female adult attend schools were racial segregation is happening.

A quite more radical perspective is the one were racial segregation is not being experienced while a participant lives in a neighborhood were Swedes also live, plus he is living with a Swede, and yet what the participant perceives is racism from Sweden and its inhabitants:

Ana: Have you been able to make friends with the neighbors?

Participant: No, I don't like it. Because, they will... the Swedish person are... they have a lot of experience to ask why you are here, where are you from...bla, bla, bla. So, I don't going into this conversation.

Ana: Yeah, that could put you into risk.

Participant: No, but it's, I can make for myself the problem. Because if they will gonna ask me where are you from, (name of his home country), then maybe this person will gonna work in the migration. Because you never know, so.

Ana: Yeah. But other than that, so you have not approached them because you want to protect yourself, but other than that do you feel like they don't want to be close to you?

Participant: No, like example the young people, the young people are more comfortable to speak and bla, bla. But it's, it just depends, you have also the old people who they are very racist to say like that. But you have also the young people [...]they are thinking if they don't get the job is because of us who coming from another country and, or if they give someone, somebody like and he will gonna be a Swedish person is because of us who coming from another country, so it's a little bit racist.

(26 year old young male adult)

The participant that had been living longer both in Sweden and without a residence permit presents more mobility within her neighborhood and yet the interpersonal relationships that she can establish after school do not show a solid social network:

```
Ana: Okay. And then you go to soccer practice after school?

Participant: aha. It is not part of the school but I have it after school.

Ana: Do you think you have more friends at the soccer training than at school?

Participant: No, we are just friends in the football team so we are not like friends outside of that.

Ana: But your friends at school are they friends outside school as well?

Participant: Yes.

(12 year old girl)
```

This participant, the 12 year old girl, has two neighborhoods were she can establish interpersonal relationships. One in which she lives with her mother and the other one where she lives with her foster family. There are clear differences regarding how she perceives the availability and friendliness of neighbors between the two neighborhoods in question:

```
Ana: do you have friends in the neighborhood where the foster family lives?

Participant: no
Ana: Do you have friends here (the interview took place in the neighborhood were her mother lives)?

Participant: Aha.
Ana: with your neighbors?

Participant: Aha.

(12 year old girl)
```

In connection to the participant's social network, racial segregation and participants' confidence to establish interpersonal relationships, it is important to put in discussion the creation of friendships with native Swedes versus foreigners. That is, to highlight who they are mingling with and why are they doing it. The two participants that provided more information regarding their socialization patterns and who they feel comfortable with and why, were the two young adults.

Two opposite manners of establishing friendships were identified. On the one side, one participant has been relating more with non-Swedes. One of the places where she spends many of her after-school time is a church were an international community is welcomed and the common language is English. Moreover, the only friend she recognized from school is the same only friend she has in her neighborhood, being this friend a non-Swede:

Ana: And your friend, where is she or he from?

Participant: Turkey

Ana: And why do you think you have a very good relationship?

Participant: She is a very happy girl and we started these lessons, this class together, at the same time, not with others. So we got so close. And I think that she understands my emotions

and my feelings, all the time. She reads me. So.

(19 year old young adult)

On the other side, the other participant that shared about who he enjoys being with and who he prefers to be friends with expressed a clear interest in actively trying to spend time with Swedes and to make more solid the friendships he has been able to build with Swedes. This relationship with Swedes is present in two ways. On the one side, with some Swedes he finds himself in the need of keeping secret the fact that he does not have a residence permit to stay in Sweden:

Ana: Do you also go out with his friends (we were talking about the friend he lives with)?

Participant: Yes

Ana: so you do feel comfortable with Swedes.

Participant: Yeah.

Ana: And do they know about your situation?

Participant: No.

(26 year old young male adult)

On the other side, this same participant had been able to make friends with native Swedes while he had been in the asylum process:

Ana: Okay. And so far your friends are Swedes, like your friend that you live with is Swede. You go out with his friends that are also Swedes. And this girl from (a NGO). She's also Swede.

Participant: Yeah.

Ana: Have you been able to make any other friends while you have been here (meaning Sweden)?

Participant: In this place where I have lived (he referred to a city were he had spent some months in a migration's center) I have a lot of friends but, because I was in the school and I meet some people and bla, bla, bla. I was even to one, not to one person, to a lot of persons at home. And there was all Swedish. They have invited me to food, to join with them. Even one family have called me to go play golf with them sons, so it's good.

(26 year old young male adult)

Despite this search for mingling with Swedes, the participant recognizes that even when he is establishing interpersonal relationships with native Swedes by spending time with them, to consolidate a friendship with them has not been easy no matter the degree of commitment that exists from both sides:

Ana: Okay, so you are making friends now (we were talking about him spending time with a Swedish girl that works for a NGO).

Participant: Ahm... she 's not my friend actually. She's one person who take care of me. Like example, she giving me the money every month [like], 900 crowns, because this organization is, is helping to people who hiding themselves.

Ana: And... ahm... but you don't think you have like a friendship with her?

Participant: Ahm... how do you say friendship? She's like one person who is responsibility for me, like for example to be into touch with me, and, and to know what they doing what they don't doing, if police has take me or no. Or just, she has rights also to fight for me, like to say, like if I will ill she has read my documents and everything and she has sent these documents to one advokat.

(26 year old young male adult)

And yet, there is an expressed desire of keep trying to establish interpersonal relationships with Swedes and at the same to not establish them with co-nationals or persons from other nationalities:

Participant: If I will gonna to stay in the Sweden, for example. I will never be with my... with friends with my people, from my country. Never, ever.

Ana: Why not?

Participant: Because they will gonna destroy me.

Ana: Why do you think so?

Participant: Because in my country mm... First everybody is corrupt, criminal. They don't think about future. They live from today, and just today. They don't thinking about tomorrow, so they are thinking like tomorrow it will gonna be like the same but it will not be the same. So I will never be from, friends with somebody from my country, or from another country. I would like to go with Swedish person.

(26 year old young male adult)

Another public space where interpersonal relationships are being established is the church. The church is identified to play two roles. On the one side we have a church that is being used as a meeting point where social interaction with other persons was emphasized by the participants in opposition to the spirituality. On the other side there is a church signified as a religious and spiritual support.

The church as a meeting point has allowed two of the participants to make friendships and to create interpersonal relationships with peers:

Ana: But where did you met, meet them, in the camp (we were talking about Swedes that had invited him to their houses)?

Participant: In the church.

Ana: In the church. Okay. So, ahm... do you think the church has been, in general, the church has been a good place to meet friends?

Participant: Yes

Ana: to make friends?

Participant: Yes. The church is God's house and the God say everybody is välkommen, to say it

like that. So.

(26 year old young male adult)

The use of the church as a meeting point began in the asylum process for the aforementioned participant and the one that will quoted. In some cases this use of the church continues once the asylum seeker has been granted or denied the residence permit:

Ana: And what do you do in your free time, when you don't go to school, when you are not doing homework?

Participant: I help my mom, we shopping for the most the time. And then when mom has a friend we go and visit her sometimes it happens that we go to that lady friend of my mom and then we come to church. We come to church. There is a church in (one day of the week) every children, those most of children who are seek for asylum so they go there. Then in that church I have some kid friends. Is a place where I play with Christian children.

Ana: do you like to go there on (one day of the week)?

Participant: Yeah [I am] happy. It's okay.

Ana: why do you like it there?

Participant: I like to play. It's children to play with, so. Because it's lot of people in my age there. It's not like that in all churches so many little guys and girls, yeah. It's lots of foreigners there, but then there is lots of (South Central Asian country) children and you know from (South Central Asian country) and (participant's home country) we speak the same language, so it feels like home playing with the same... yeah.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

Only one participant mentioned the importance of attending church in her free time due to the religious and spiritual response that she obtains from being in this type of religious institution. In fact, the church seems to be a support for establishing interpersonal relationships:

Ana: Ahm, you said the only places where you feel happy is school and church. What do you do in church? Why do you feel happy here?

Participant: I am not lonely anymore here. Is not only because I have lots of friends, sisters and brothers here, spiritual. But is because of the holly spirit I feel so much strong here. I was very sad and stressed before I got baptized and found salvation but since then I feel peace inside even if everything is bad, so.

Ana: Ahmm... Besides going to school and coming to church. How do you spend your free time?

Participant: Nowhere else because I am in the dance group and worship group in the church. So I come here to practice dancing and worshiping, singing. Then I don't go anywhere else, only school and here. I just go to city in (a public square downtown Gothenburg), you know?, because I am like part of our evangelist group in this church so is the only way I go to city and stand in the middle of the city so, to evangelize.

(19 year old young female adult)

The importance of religious institutions as a key part of the social networks of undocumented migrants has been richly studied by authors such as Baguir-Zada (2010). However, I believe the spiritual aspect of attending a religious institution per se was not recognized in the literature review that preceded this research.

Accessibility to health care

As a fundamental aspect of a person's life, the respect or breach of the participants' right to the access of the highest attainable standard of health was included in this research. The accessibility to health care, in general did not provide information different from what has already been produced by previous researches. Only three participants are included in this section. The twelve year old girl, who is a rejected asylum seeker has full access to health care, as the Law Concerning Health Care for Asylum Seekers and Others establishes:

Ana: And if you need to go to a doctor, where do you go?

Participant: Vårdcentralen Ana: Do you have to pay? Participant: Yeah, 50

Ana: And does your mom take you? Does she feel safe taking you to the doctor?

Participant: Yeah. She takes me, my mom takes me and we feel safe because the hospitals don't

tell anyone that we are there.

Her words even demonstrate that what previous researchers have emphasized, as Baguir-Zada does (2010) regarding fear to go to hospitals or health care centers, in this girl's particular case is not happening. On the other hand, the accessibility to health care of the two young adults demonstrates the girl's opposite situation.

Ana: Have you gone to the doctor (referring to the last time she felt sick)?

Participant: No. Ana: Why not?

Participant: I think, I thought it should go away by itself. It should go away by itself. But, is like this. Because if it's something like this I don't go to doctor because I don't have the opportunity to go to doctor because I don't have permission so this kind of thing should go away by itself, I don't have a choice.

Ana: And if it's something more serious?

Participant: I pray every day that it won't happen to me. Is not for me to go to doctor here, so I pray.

(19 year old young female adult)

Finally, the young male adult not only has the access to public health care denied, but considers that the health care service provided by ngo's, now that he is undocumented, is better than the one provided by the sate while he was in the asylum process:

Ana: Do you feel that your life has changed a lot since you were in the process for receiving or not the asylum and now that it's definitely that you are not getting it?

Participant: Yes, actually it has not changed. Is the same. Is the same when was in the process asyl... in the asylum process and now that I'm in hiding. [...] Even like example when it was to dentist, when it was in the asyl process, so he has said that he can not fix my teeth.[...]. And

now if I go to the dentist, the church, they are saying that they will gonna fix my teeth, so it's better now with the dentist that when I was the asyl process.

Ana: So, you feel the health care system is better the one that is not provided by the state?

Participant: Yes, honest.

Ana: Have you needed the church in any way in the health care service and have they given you the service?

Participant: Yeah, of course. Like example, I have, when I was in the (home country) I get a lot of panic and bla, bla, bla. I'm a little bit down with my nerves so they have give me a medication that can stabil my nerves. For example.

Ana: Okay. So the healthcare is better now that you are not in the process.

Participant: Yeah.

(26 year old young male adult)

According to the participants' information, both young adults are not being accepted in the public health care system. The young male has been using health care services provided by ngo's, while the young female expects not to get sick enough for requiring medical attention. The only person that is receiving full access to health care services is the 12 year old girl. In this sense, the law regarding health care for asylum seekers and others is being respected for her.

Informal work

The objective of knowing if the participants are involved in the labor market was to get information regarding working conditions that could be used for a future proposal were public policies can include undocumented migrants' rights not only because they are human beings but also because in some countries they are aiding the host country to develop its economy.

Just one of the four participants has had experiences searching for jobs. His first experience was while he was still in the asylum process and even when he found a job he was not granted a work permit because he was informed he was in the process of being deported to his home country. Later on, as an undocumented migrant he had an experience in an informal work, were he went to similar experiences reported by previous researchers (Gavanas 2010, Khosravi 2010) of exploitation and non-payment:

Ana: And now that it's over (meaning the asylum process), have you tried again to get a job?

Participant: N...You can not get the job Ana: I know, but like, like black jobs

Participant: black jobs...

Ana: what they call black jobs

Participant: Yes I have, but there was like I can, you can work two days, three days. So this is not enough money. It's like 300 or maybe... One guy and when I have worked one day at clean the garden so he doesn't have paid me (laughed).

Ana: And ahmm... so you did the whole job and then what did the person say?

Participant: The person say come tomorrow I will gonna give you the money. I come in tomorrow he was not there.

Ana: And did you try to get the money?

Participant: I have tell to my friend but he say I will gonna contact, so. I do not know what happened. I don't, I do not get it. I will not fight for... I will not destroy my life for 300 or 400 crowns. Because...

(26 year old young male adult)

Testimonies like this one can be used to claim for the need for economic rights of undocumented migrants to be respected. These participant's words provide different insights. On the one side he doubted to talk about how he has accessed to informal work, perhaps because he is aware that in Sweden this kind of labour arrangements are not permitted. On the other hand, once he shared his experience in the black market he was clear about not wanting to put his life into risk for money, meaning he preferred to not receive the pay rather than exposing himself by figthing for what he had earnt by mowing the lawn.

Spatiality in Gothenburg

As part of participant's every day life I tried to understand the spacial mobility they have within the city of Gothenburg. This section was inspired by Holgersson's (2010) doctoral thesis, which I was only able to read the English summary because the rest of it is published in Swedish. The spatiality of the participants provides an idea of the geographical presence of undocumented persons in Gothenburg. Moreover, I wanted to understand which places seem to be safe and where undocumented persons feel not only a protective environment but enjoy spending their time there and even can have a feeling of belonging.

Still when this mental map is meant to be constructed by the steps of undocumented migrants, I will include the spacial mobility of the child asylum seeker to make a comparison of how similar places change meaning once the migratory status has also changed.

In general, the participant's spatiality in Gothenburg will be divided by their favorite places and their least favorite places in the city were they lived at the moment of the interviews.

There is a marked difference between the favorite places during the asylum process, as a public multicultural place, and once the process is over and their application was rejected, where the participants preferred private places or their own neighborhoods:

```
Ana: Where is your favorite place in Gothenburg?
Participant: Liseberg (we all laughed).
Ana: why?
Participant: It's my playground, it's heaven. You just be excited to be there, just hear the names.
Ana: Who do you go there with?
Participant: My mom, my dad comes sometimes maybe, but my mom.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)
```

A sense of belonging and territoriality can be identified in the answers of the two following participants, were their own neighborhood is their favorite place in all Gothenburg. It is even more interesting to mention that one of the least favorite places in Gothenburg of the boy who is in the asylum process is exactly one of these two neighborhoods:

```
Ana: Where is your favorite place in Gothenburg?
Participant: (the neighborhood were she lives from time to time with her mom, where she goes to school, and mainly inhabited by immigrants)
Ana: Why?
Participant: Because I have lived here for most of the time and I always feel safer.

(12 year old girl)
```

The other participant expressed a similar answer, yet his answer includes fear to other areas of the city.

```
Ana: Where is your favorite place in Gothenburg?
Participant: Mmm... (a neighborhood were many immigrants live) (laughed), there were I live.
Ana: And what does (his neighborhood) have? Why do you like it there?
Partcipant: Ahm... It's, it's not like the centrum. It's not a lot of people. It's not running. And it's quiet and nice and peaceful... to relax. Not to think about something.

(26 year old young male adult)
```

Au contraire to the boy who is still in the asylum process, the young female favorite's place is inside a church. The nineteen year old young female adult prefers to be inside a building where she is not exposed to any of the dangers that the city may represent to her:

```
Ana: okay. Where is your favorite place in Gothenburg or (the very close town were she lives)? Participant: This church.

Ana: why?

Participant: I am safe here. Is peaceful. I feel so close to Jesus here. Because I have learnt that is the most important things in life to be so close to him, so I get it here.
```

The other side of the spacial mobility of the participants is obtained by the places were they like the least to go. As before mentioned, the use of the public space seems to change once the asylum process is over. While the only participant who is still in the asylum process does not like the areas were immigrants live, the other participants do not enjoy being in areas were mostly non-immigrants live or in places were too many persons can be found:

Ana: and where is the... your least favorite place in Gothenburg? Participant: The ghetto part, that there is only foreigners there.

Ana: Where is the ghetto part?

Participant: I don't remember the name but we were there and I was afraid, so.

Ana: Did you use to live there?

Participant: no

Ana: So, why did you go there?

Participant: It was my parents that had some matter there that they had to go and fix it so they

took me, I was scared.

Ana: do you go there often?

Participant: It's two different areas that is very much foreigners. One is (one day a week) I go this place and I think it is little scary. I like it but I don't like it really. But the other part too that the parents must go, maybe buy something but I don't like that either.

Ana: What do you feel when you go there?

Participant: It is so many people got killed in those areas and I really don't feel safe. I feel scared. I hate it.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

The quite opposite situation is expressed by a girl who has been undocumented for several years:

Ana: And where is the least place, your least favorite place in Gothenburg?

Participant: (she mentioned the neighborhood were she lives with the foster family)

Ana: And why there?

Participant: Because it's really nice but because I don't know anyone there and it is just white people. They don't want to hang out, they don't want to be friends, they don't want to socialize.

(12 year old girl)

As the participants went older, to be exposed to any people seemed to be enough for not liking a place:

Ana: And where is the place that you like the least in Gothenburg, where you don't really like to go or where you don't feel comfortable.

Participant: I don't know. I don't love to go in the... around where there is a lot of people to say it like that, because where there is a lot of people there is a lot of problem, so I don't like it. Ana: And what do you do for not being in that kind of places?

Participant: I stay at home and then I go out just on the night me.

(26 year old young male adult)

Only one participant referred to Migrationsverkett as the place where she likes to be the least in

Gothenburg:

Ana: And where is the least place, your least favorite place?

Participant: Migration's office. I hate it.

Ana: Why?

Participant: Because I think there are mean people there, working.

(19 year old young female adult)

The areas of Gothenburg were participants expressed to have more mobility and to enjoy these

places, are the ones where, in a future research, children and young adults can be called to

participate in youth assemblies where they can propose to public policies decision-makers how

their rights as undocumented children and young adults could be better respected.

Conclusions regarding how is the everyday life of undocumented children and young adults

in Gothenburg, Sweden constructed and experienced

The following section is constructed by an exercise of deductivity and inductivity. I will use the

deductive method by applying the theory of symbolic interactionism to the analysis of the results.

On the other hand, I will use the inductive method since the analysis of the data has made me use

the specific theory of social networks, which is part of the symbolic interactionism, to explain

some of the results. Since this area of symbolic interactionism was not considered as a theory

with which I intentionally began this research, it is not included in the theories chapter and rather

addressed in this chapter.

The construction of everyday life of undocumented children and young adults in Sweden can

better be understood through the theory of symbolic interactionism. Social interaction is an

"encounter between two or more actors." In this encounter there is an ongoing "definition and

redefinition of the acts of others and one's own acts." In its core, social interaction requires that

each actor adjusts what other actors do (Charon, 2007:140). And this is what happens every time

they encounter someone as well as during the interviews.

Rethinking and interpreting the several different activities that include participants' everyday life

and the diverse areas where they perform on a daily basis, it is important to include from

Goffman concepts such as face-to-face interaction, which is understood as "...the reciprocal

influence of individuals upon one another's actions when in one another's immediate physical

80

presence. (Goffman, 1959: 26)". This is of particular importance while thinking on how participants perceive themselves within Gothenburg and among Swedes and immigrants and how they consider to be perceived.

Moreover, in the execution of performances in everyday life, the performer moves in between regions. According to Goffman a region is "...any place that is bounded to some degree by barriers to perception. Regions vary, of course, in the degree to which they are bounded and according to the media communication in which the barriers to perception occur (Ibidem: 10)." Every section in which the participants' everyday life was dissected can be identified as a region in between which participants move on a daily basis. In this research we addressed the regions of feelings, housing arrangements, interpersonal relationships, health care, informal work and spatial mobility in the city.

Some of the experiences of their everyday life are understood using an area of social interaction that includes the analysis of social networks. "A social network refers to a set of actors and the ties among them (Femlee, 2003: 389)." The social network perspective emphasizes the social relations and ties established among the actors (Ibidem). "Networks are composed of intimate, micro-level, dyadic ties, as well as ties to larger subgroups and societal organizations at the macro-level (Felmee, 2003: 389-390). The function of the social network is to provide social support (Felmlee, 2003: 390).

Felmee makes a brief definition of concepts important to social networks theory in her analysis of how social networks theory can be used regarding the relationships established among administrative staff members of a university department. From those concepts, three are useful to illustrate how the social network of the participants is working.

The first concept is *size*, which is the "number of distinct individuals in a network (Ibidem: 391). As aforementioned, while analyzing the construction of interpersonal relationships and the housing arrangements of the participants, their social network seems to be rather small and this implies that their social support could be deficient. It is considered to be small because in the housing arrangements the young male depends on one person for guaranteeing a house, the young female's only access to a house is one where three persons live overcrowded and the boy

who is in the asylum process contacts allow him to share a house with another family. In the case of the 12 year old girl, on the one hand the network built through her mother's acquaintances make her live in shared houses with persons she barely knows; on the other hand the girl does have a bigger network than the other participants because she has been able to enter into Sweden's system by having been granted a foster family through the social services.

Moreover, if we remember how and with whom the interpersonal relationships are being constructed by the participants, in most cases we have again a small network. The young male interacts with several social actors, yet he does not consider having a friendship with most of these Swede and non-Swede persons. The boy who is in the asylum process does not have friends in his neighborhood and even when he enjoys meeting boys and girls on a church once a week he does not feel safe in that neighborhood. The 12 year old girl is involved in activities such as football training and still does not consider being friends with the girls she trains with. Finally, the young female considers to only having one friend even though she is active in different groups in a religious institution.

The second relevant concept is *tie strength*. "Ties between actors that have many links in common are considered "strong," and those with only one or few links are "weak" (Ibidem: 392). In the analysis it was mentioned that in general the participants have weak ties within the social networks they take part of. An exception is the interpersonal relationships established in the church. Weak ties are not necessarily considered a negative aspect of their everyday lives if we take into consideration that Granovetter (1973 cited by Felmee 2003: 395) explained the importance of weak ties in a social network because they represent an "...important locale for diffusion of influence and information, opportunities for mobility, and community organization". This means that when persons have weak ties among their social networks, there are bigger chances that they will look for opportunities outside their regular social network. A clear example of this is provided by the 26 year old young male adult who was able to obtain a very good housing arrangement with a person that he met while he was in the asylum process.

Finally, the concept of *centrality* is required for the analysis. "A central actor is one who is involved in many ties [...] an actor is considered central if the actor lies between many actors...

(Ibidem: 392)". If we think on which actor is playing a central role within all participants' social network the institution of the church arises as the one. Not always in its religious significant, but mostly as a meeting point, in all interviewees the assistance to a religious institution takes part of their everyday lives. In fact, three of the four participants make use of the same religious institution while none of them know each other. This commonality of use of the same church represents its' centrality and the fact that none of the participants know each other while making use of the same institution represents the small size of their own networks.

The degree of involvement of the participants inside the Swedish society necessarily brings back to the concept of inclusive exclusion used by Gavanas (2010, taken from Khosravi 2010, who quoted Agamben 1998). A social exclusion of undocumented migrants in Gothenburg is not happening, rather the Swedish state and society is regulating and configuring their lives (Agamben 1998, cited in Khosravi 2010). This means that they are being taken into consideration because the state is deciding where they can meet on a regular basis, which persons or institutions can provide them certain services such as medical services, in which areas of the city they can live, etc. None of the participants is living a life of complete solitude. Yet, at the same time none of them demonstrates to feel part of an intercultural society where he or she is accepted no matter his or her migratory status, or the lack of skills for speaking Swedish, or the lack of interest from neighbors (Swedes or foreigners like them) to get to know them as persons.

For instance, the 12 year old girl who has been assigned a foster family does not feel comfortable in the neighborhood were the foster family lives. The young male who has a contact person from a NGO who protects asylum seekers rights does not feel to have a friendship with his Swedish contact person. This same young male who lives with a Swede needs to hide his migratory status from his friend's friends. The young female who is active in a church and goes to a central park to preach feels uncomfortable while being in the middle of Swedish society.

And again, in many ways the participants of this research are taking active part of the Swedish society. Three of them attend school, two of them have access to health care, one of them even has been included by the social services by being assigned a foster family, and the four of them

make use of religious institutions for spiritual and socialization means. Regardless, none of them

is recognized as citizen of Sweden.

DESIRE OF CHANGE

As part of undocumented children's and young adults' everyday life, it was important to know

which aspects of their everyday life they want to be different in order to have a better life in

Sweden. From their responses I assume that the aspects that they mentioned are fundamental to

take into consideration to modify rules, regulations and social actions to create an environment

where children's rights are respected no matter the migratory status of the child in question.

Moreover, to ask children themselves instead of taking decisions from experts' points of view or

adults responsible of the children is part of a participatory exercise where articles 12 and 13 of

the CRC are being not only respected but put into practice. Both articles are related to the rights

of expressing their own opinions, to be heard and to look for, receive and disseminate

information.

The following interview excerpts will give answer to the second research question: Which

aspects of their everyday life, and why, would they like to be different in order to have their

children's rights respected?

Three of the participants identify that what they want to change from their everyday life has to do

with changing their condition of non-citizenship, of not having a permission to stay in Sweden.

This seemed to be their priority if they could choose anything that could change in their present

life:

Ana: What would you change today in your life in Sweden?

Participant: Aha. I would change the migration's office decision for us (laughing).

Ana: But they haven't decided yet, right?

Participant: Okay. Then I wish something else for you.

Ana: No! Wish for you (laughing) for you.

Participant: I would change this thing that I am away from my closest friends.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

This desire does not change once a negative decision for granting the asylum has been received:

Ana: If you could change something from your life in Sweden, what would you change?

Participant: To get asylum and get personal number and an apartment, somewhere to live.

84

(12 year old girl)

The distress of not having a residence permit is clearer in the following participant's words, were she can not conceive a future without having a residence permit. Her future will begin once she has the peace of having a residence permit:

Ana: From your life in Sweden, what would you like to be different? Participant: It's like, I came here to be free. I live free but I am not free because the Migration office is deciding for me and is very scary situation, so I just want to have this peace, to know that I can stay, so that's enough for me.

Ana: what you want could happen... To have this peace, how could you have his peace? Participant: I have prayed and I know inside my heart that Jesus has made this permission for us but the time hasn't come yet so I know that we will receive it some day. That day, I don't know when it is but we will be ready for that day and because of that I don't think of future because future begins with that day. I can not touch it now, so I don't plan now.

(19 year old young female adult)

The only participant that did not focus on obtaining a residence permit as a factor of change of his everyday life desired a social change regarding how, according to his perception, the Swedish society relates with and takes care of old people.

It is clear that a first necessity of change in everyday life identified by most participants is the safety of having been granted a residence permit. Nonetheless, their perceptions include other social rights such as being close with their friends, a decent house and livelihood, mental health and social cohesion.

All these aspects are included in the CRC where article 22 states the rights of children, who are seeking for asylum, article 24 states the right for the highest attainable standard of health, article 39 states the right to physical and psychological recovery while previous experience in i.e. armed conflicts, article 27 states the right to an adequate standard of living for the child's development.

*** FUTURE EXPECTATIONS**

To talk about future expectations was interesting and complicated at the same time. The importance of a projection into the future is because from these expectations social policies can be designed by decision- makers. Most participants had some idea of their life project, while one

participant reinstated that future is somewhere frozen until her situation is not regularized. Feelings of happiness, safety, fight, mutual aid and tiredness are part of the following section.

The excerpts that are included in this section answer the third research question: What are the future expectations of undocumented children and young adults in Gothenburg, Sweden?

Two participants agreed in wanting to stay in Sweden and to want to help other persons by executing their life projects:

Ana: Okay, What do you see in your future?

Participant: I don't know, maybe become policewoman or doctor, but I don't know.

Ana: and why to be a policewoman?

Participant: To help people.

Ana: and a doctor?

Participant: To save peoples lives. My father wish before he died was that I could be a doctor.

Ana: if you could choose a country to live, where would you like to live?

Participant: Sweden.

(12 year old girl)

The following participant provided a much more elaborated life project. In general he has the same background idea as the previous girl regarding to stay in Sweden and do something to help other persons.

Ana: what are your expectations for the future?

Participant: If I will gonna stay in Sweden, I will gonna go to educate me better and to make a [unintelligible] because I've been young and the year going very fast so I will gonna try to make something what is good for me and my family and just that. I would like to be a chef, so [unintelligible] myself I think if I will gonna stay in Sweden I will gonna to some education one year just to grow a lot of theoretic and after that I will gonna to work in some restaurant maybe two years. But after that I will gonna stay of my own food so I will gonna open my own restaurant and I will gonna take care of others.

Ana: Take care of others?

Participant: Ahm... yeah of others. Like example I see here is in the Sweden it's a lot of old people. And they have maybe children but these children they are so young and not educated so they don't get about the parents.

Ana: And if you can't stay in Sweden?

Participant: (sighed)

Ana: Like that's one option.

Participant: Mmm...

Ana: Do you have any other options in your life?

Participant: Just to fight. Ana: Fight to stay here?

Participant: No, just to fight through my life. Because I don't know what will gonna happen tomorrow, if they will gonna catch me, the police if will gonna catch me they will gonna send me, they will gonna deport me to my country. [...]I will gonna start to fight for a new life, to better situation.

Ana: Ah... if they would send you back to (home country), would you stay there? Or you would try to...

Participant: No stay there... because my future is there death to say it like that.

(26 year old young male adult)

The boy that is still in the asylum process sees in his future a residence permit coming and with that the happiness of his parents coming back. His life project is thought in a short term were his immediate needs are covered, without projecting himself into subsequent years.

Ana: What do you expect from Sweden?

Participant: We get permission and we stay here is my biggest dream. I have to think. It was a difficult question. If I get permission then I can have many, many animals and take care of them.

Ana: And how does it feel to be waiting to get the permission?

Participant: So difficult to wait. Not because I am sad but because everything you want to do they say you don't have permission, you can not do it, so you have to wait. Because I ask my parents I want to have a dog. I have always had animals, many animals, at home. But now they say: Oh we have so little money, so the dogs are very expensive. Everything must go to dogs and it's not good.

Ana: and how do you think your life will be different once you get the permission?

Participant: It will be completely different (laughing). I can buy. I can have dogs and animals. The most important thing, my parents will be happy again. If they get happy then it will be like before, so many years ago that they were happy. So it will be like the home I came.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

On the other hand, the fourth participant seems to have unclear or uncertain future expectations because she can only focus on her present and to construct future expectations appear as something that might as well never happen:

Ana: What are your expectations for the future?

Participant: I have some sentence ready everyone asks me I just answer I want to be engineer but I really don't see that but I just answer in the school and everybody.

Ana: And what do you see, what do you really see in the future?

Participant: At some point it was my dream to become an engineer but I see that so far away. So inside me I know I never will be. They will never let me to go to school or high school and university so I shouldn't, I should learn not to think like that.

Ana: And, then how do you think it's going to be in the future?

Participant: I'm in some kind of situation I have to think about today that they don't send me away today. I stay here today, not so far. So it's just okay to survive and stay here, for the moment. I say to my friend that I must be the only person in the world who hates the future. Maybe future never comes. It's like good here because now I'm here I don't know about the future, so it's scary. I had so much expectation for the future but that future hasn't come, may never come so I am tired of future, I don't like this word.

(19 year old young female adult)

In general, the future expectations expressed by the participants are another example of the inclusive exclusion in Swedish society they are being part of. They have dreams and expectations yet all of them depend on how the Swedish state can fully include them or keep them in this sort of semi inclusion were they don't die of starvation, yet they don't take part of the banquet.

Chapter 5 – Conclusions

This research with undocumented children and young adults has provided a panorama regarding how they are experiencing their everyday life in a Northern European city. While not having a regular migratory status they are still being present in different settings where interpersonal relationships are being established with both Swedes and foreigners.

Everyday life of undocumented and young adults in Gothenburg includes feelings such as fear and resentment, schooling experiences, different kinds of having access to a house, inclusive exclusion when it comes to building interpersonal relationships within the Swedish society, a marked difference in the access to health care depending on the age of the participant and in the particular case of these participants, a very low exposure to informal or black jobs.

It is of great satisfaction that while some of the results of this research agree with previous research findings, there are also new findings that are an example of how an intercultural society that respects all people's human rights is possible. On the one hand, similarities with previous research provide a sense of congruence between this research and work developed with other groups. On the other hand, to have new findings reinstates the pertinence of making research directly with children and young adults. This is particularly mentioned because the research demonstrated that efforts for constructing an intercultural society are coming both from civil society and from the Swedish state. The clearest examples are the possibility for the young male to live with a Swede under his invitation and the social services assigning the 12 year old girl a foster family.

The results obtained in this research are product of performing research with children and young adults under a rights perspective. The application of these results could be used for concretizing two of the objectives that the research originally had and that became unachievable. These objectives were:

• Convert children's and young adult's own perspectives into structural solutions such as the construction of a transnational citizenship and an intercultural Swedish society.

• Formulate a proposal of full access to children's rights and respect of the rights enshrined by the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child of undocumented children in Sweden.

Future research could certainly work towards these two objectives in order to guarantee that Sweden, and many other countries that have undocumented migrant children and young adults within their boundaries, can provide all the rights that international instruments of the United Nations guarantee to persons in transit.

I highly recommend cross-cultural research because inclusive, participatory and rights based research can not obviate the presence of multiple ethnic groups in all countries that are transit or destinies in the migratory process. In this kind of research is important to have cultural sensitivity and to make the best effort to speak the language of the country or the participant's mother tongue. If none of this possible, interpreter aided interviews is a very good tool to perform inclusive interviews and to promote intercultural societies.

The final words of this thesis must belong to those four persons that made all this possible. I asked each of them if there was anything about their life they wanted to be part of a movie or to inspire a story. The meaning of this is what they would leave as legacy of their life. Each of them shared with me what I consider to be a resumé of what their life of asylum seekers or rejected asylum seers has been about. Moreover, it is the final statement of how valuable their life is and how worthy was this research for me:

(laughing and happily excited) I want to write a story about the things happened to us when we came to Sweden and we couldn't speak Swedish and we were in different shops and everything went wrong, and everything we bought was wrong, we could not do anything right. It would be very funny story. So I would like to write this funny story so people love it.

(12 year old boy in asylum process)

Ahm... Very nice question. You made me think about this thing because I love to write and I think I will probably do that in a very short while because I have, my story is very painful and very long from childhood and I have been in different situations. It has been very tough. It will be very good story. Maybe many people wants to read it and I want to tell people how I thought and now I have learnt to think when I met Jesus everything was changed in my mind and my heart. So, no matter problems, I can find the solution so it's good to write about this for other people too.

(19 year old young female adult)

I am actually writing with my psychologist a story now about everything that has happened in my life up until now. (12 year old girl)

My whole life. Because my whole life is... my father has died when I was one year. So I have grown up in the children's house, children's home. So it was, it was hard for me all my life and they know how it is. I'm gonna to make the story from that if I will gonna to be in the possibility and it will gonna be like Titanic (laughed). (26 year old young male adult)

Appendix 1 – Interview guide

Presentation and explanation of the research.

Informed consent.

Personal data

- Pseudonym
- Country of origin
- Age
- Their history? For how long has he/she stayed in Sweden?

Your day

Could you describe an "ordinary" day?

Feelings and thoughts connected to different chores and activities.

Education. Description of 1 day in school. Clarify if:

- Could you describe your school day? How is it to go this school? Likes or not school why? What is good, what is not so good?
- Relationship with classmates
- Relationship with friends
- Relationship with teachers/adults in school
- Feels safe? Why?

Health care. Description of the last time he or she got sick. Clarify if:

- Accessed to public health care system/other e.g. Rosengrenska
- Payment
- Felt safe? why?

Housing. Description or Drawing (depending on age). Clarify:

Could you describe your home?

- How is it to live in this home?
- Intrafamily relations (his or her chores and the chores of the rest of the family)
- How is it to live in this neighborhood? –What do you like, what don't you like?
- Relationship with neighbors
- Feels safe in the neighborhood?

Work. Description of 1 day of work (paid/unpaid work outside the household). Clarify:

- How is it to do this job? Likes it or not? Why?
- Relationships with employer
- Relationships with co-workers
- Paid job: how do you use the money you earn? Remittances?

Free time. Description of leisure time.

- How do you spend your free time?
- Where do you go?
- Who do you spend it with?

Spatial presence in Gothenburg. Drawing or conversation

- Where is your favorite/least favorite place in Gothenburg?
- How come?
- What do you do there?
- Who do you go with?
- How often do you go?

Self – Representation. Present or Past

• Is there any event in your life you think you could write a story about?

Future expectations.

- What are your expectations for the future?
- From your life in Sweden, is there anything you would like to be different? How come?
- How could this happen?
- How do you see yourself in the future?

Bibliography

Alanen, Leena (2001a) "Explorations in generational analysis" in Alanen, Leena and Berry Mayal (eds.) (2001) *Conceptualizing child-adult relations*, RoutledgeFalmer, London Pg. 11-22

Alanen, Leena (2001b) "Childhood as a generational condition: children's daily lives in a central Finland town" in Alanen, Leena and Berry Mayal (eds.) (2001) *Conceptualizing child-adult relations*, RoutledgeFalmer, London Pg. 129-143

Alexander, Shannon (2010) "Humanitarian Bottom League? Sweden and the Right to Health for Undocumented Migrants, *European Journal of Migration and Law 12 (2010) 215–240*

Andersson, Hans E. and Susanna Nilsson (2009) "Asylum Seekers and Undocumented Migrants' Increased Social Rights in Sweden" in *International Migration* Vol. 49 (4) 2011 pg. 167-188

Baghir-Zada, Ramin (2007) "Strategies for Obtaining Access to Healthcare: The Case of Undocumented Migrants in Sweden" in Björngren Cuadra, Carin and Sandro Cattacin (eds) (2007) *Migration and Health: Difference Sensitivity from an Organisational Perspective*, Malmö University, IMER, MIM pg. 75-83

Baguir-Zada, Ramin (2010) "Health and illegality: The case of Sweden" in Lund Thomsen, Trine, Martin Bak Jørgensen, Susi Meret, Kristen Hviid & Helle Stenum (eds.) (2010) *Irregular Migration in a Scandinavian Perspective*, Shaker Publishing, Maastricht pg. 293-317

Bhabha, Jacqueline (2009) "Arendt's Children: Do Today's Migrant Children Have a Right to Have Rights?" *Human Rights Quarterly*, Volume 31, Number 2, May 2009, pp. 410-451

Charon, Joel M. (2007) Symbolic Interactionism. An Introduction, an interpretation, An Integration. Pearson Prentice Hall: New Jersey, 9th Edition.

Corsaro, William A. (2011) The Sociology of Childhood, Sage Publications, United States of America, 3rd edition

Cowell, Cressida (2008) How to Ride a Dragon's Storm, Hodder Children's Books, UK

Düvell, Franck (2010) "Foreword", in Lund Thomsen, Trine, Martin Bak Jørgensen, Susi Meret, Kirsten Hviid & Helle Stenum (eds.), *Irregular migration in a Scandinavian Perspective*, Maastricht: Shaker Publishing pg. 3-8

Earthy, Sarah and Ann Cronin (2008) "Narrative Analysis" in Gilbert, Nigel (2008) Researching social life, Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage pg. 420-439

Ebeling, Mary and Julie Gibbs (2008) "Searching and Reviewing the Literature" in Gilbert, Nigel (2008) Researching social life, Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage pg. 63-79

Fekete, Liz (2007) "Detained: foreign children in Europe" in *Race and Class* Institute of Race Relations Vol. 49(1): 93–104

Felmlee, Diane H. (2003) "Interaction in Social Networks" in Delamater, John (editor) (2003) *Handbook of Social Psychology*, University of Wisconsin, Madison Wisconsin, USA, Chapter 16 pg. 389-409

Fielding, Nigel and Hilary Thomas (2008) "Qualitative interviewing" in Gilbert, Nigel (2008) Researching social life, Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage pg. 245-265

Gavanas, Anna (2010) Who cleans the welfare state? *Migration, informalization, social exclusion and domestic services in Stockholm*, Institute for Futures Studies, Research Report 2010/3, Stockholm 2010

Gilbert, Nigel (2008) "Research, Theory and Method" in Gilbert, Nigel (2008) Researching social life, Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage pg. 21-40

Goffman, Erving (1959) The presentation of self in everyday life, Penguin Books: England

Greig, Anne and Jayne Taylor (1999) Doing research with children Sage Publications, London

Gunneflo, Markus and Niklas Selberg (2010) "Discourse or Merely Noise? Regarding the Disagreement on Undocumented Migrants" in *European Journal of Migration and Law* 12 (2010) 173–191

Harcourt, Deborah and Heather Conroy (2011) "Informed Consent. Process and procedures in seeking research partnerships with young children" in Harcourt, Deborah, Bob Perry and Tim Waller (eds.) (2011) Researching young children's perspectives. Debating the ethics and dilemmas of educational research with children, Routledge pg. 38-51

Hatch, J.A (1995) "Studying Childhood as a Cultural Invention: A Rationale and Framework" in Hatch, J.A. (ed) (1995) *Qualitative Research in Early Childhood Settings*. Westport, CT and London: Praeger pg.117-133

Hjern, Anders and Jeppsson, Olle (2005) "Mental health care for refugee children in exile" *Forced Migration and Mental Health International and Cultural Psychology*, 2005, 115-128, DOI: 10.1007/0-387-22693-1 7

Hodkinson, Paul (2008) "Grounded Theory and Inductive Research" in Gilbert, Nigel (2008) Researching social life, Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage pg. 80-100

Holgersson, Helena (2010) "'Hidden Refugees" as Municipal Headache" in Holgersson, Helena, Catharina Thörn, Håkan Thörn and Mattias Wahlström (eds) (2010) (re)searching Gothenburg, Glänta Produktion Pg. 109-115

Holgersson, Helena (2011) *Icke-medborgarskapets urbana geografi*, English Summary (The Urban Geography of Non-Citizenship), Doctoral Thesis at Göteborgs universitet, Glänta produktion 2011

Hunt, Paul (2007) "Implementation of General assembly resolution 60/251 of 15 March 2006, entitled 'Human Rights Council'. Report of the special rapporteur on the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, Paul Hunt. Addendum. Mission to Sweden" A/HRC/4/28/Add.2. The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights

IOM (2010) World Migration Report 2010 the Future of Migration: Building Capacities for Change International Organization for Migration, Switzerland. Ch. 4

Jentsch, Birgit (1998) "The 'Interpreter Effect': Rendering Interpreters Visible in Cross-Cultural Research and Methodology", Journal of European Social Policy 1998 8: 275-289

Kapborg, Inez and Carina Berterö (2002) "Using an interpreter in qualitative interviews: does it threaten validity?", *Nursing Inquiry* 2002; 9 (1) 52–56

Khosravi, Shahram (2009) "Sweden: detention and deportation of asylum seekers" *Race & Class* Institute of Race Relations Vol. 50(4): 38–56

Khosravi, Shahram (2010). "An Ethnography of Migrant "Illegality" in Sweden: Included yet Excepted?" *Journal of International Political Theory*, 6(1) 2010, 95–116

Kvale, Steinar and Svend Brinkmann (2009 2nd edition): *Interviews: Learning the Craft of Qualitative Research Interviewing*. Sage Publications: United States of America

Läkare Utan Gränser (Médecins Sans Frontière) (2005), Experiences of Gömda in Sweden: Exclusion from Health Care for Immigrants Living Without Legal Status, (Stockholm: MSF, 2005a)

Morgan, David H. J. (1996) Family Connections. An Introduction to Family Studies, Polity Press, Great Britain

Mudaly, Neerosh and Chris Goddard (2009) "The Ethics of Involving Children Who Have Been Abused in Child Abuse Research", *International Journal of Children's Rights 17 (2009) 261–281*

O'Connell Davidson, Julia and Caitlin Farrow (2007) *Child Migration and the Construction of Vulnerability*, Save the Children Sweden, Introduction, Chapters 3,4,5,6 and 8.

PICUM (2007) Access to Health care for Undocumented Migrants in Europe. Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants, Belgium. Introduction, Chapters 6, 9 and 10, and Recommendations

PICUM (2008) *Undocumented Children in Europe: Invisible Victims of Immigration Restrictions*, Platform for International Cooperation on Undocumented Migrants, Brussels

Piper, Heather and Helen Simons (2005) "Ethical responsibility in social research" in Somekh, Bridget and Cathy Lewin (eds.) (2005) *Research Methods in the Social Sciences*. Sage Publications: Great Britain pg.56-63

Punch, Samantha (2001) "Negotiating autonomy: childhoods in rural Bolivia" in Alanen, Leena and Berry Mayal (eds.) (2001) Conceptualizing child-adult relations, RoutledgeFalmer, London Pg. 23-36

Ruiz-Casares, Mónica, Cécile Rousseau, Ilse Derluyn, Charles Watters and François Crépeau (2009) "Right and access to healthcare for undocumented children: Addressing the gap between international conventions and disparate implementations in North America and Europe" in *Social Science & Medicine* 70 (2010) 329–336

Save the Children (2008) Supplementary report from Save the Children Sweden, in response to the Swedish Government's fourth periodic report to the United Nations Committee on the Rights of the Child, Save the Children Sweden

Seidman, I.E. (1991) Interviewing As Qualitative Research: A Guide for Researchers in Education and the Social Sciences. New York: Teachers College Press, Columbia University

Shakibaie, Reyhaneh (2010) Living Behind a Glass Wall, Living Conditions of Undocumented Immigrants in Sweden, Master Thesis at Göteborgs universitet

Smith, Anne B. (2011) "Respecting children's rights and agency. Theoretical insights into ethical research procedures" in Harcourt, Deborah, Bob Perry and Tim Waller (eds.) (2011) Researching young children's perspectives. Debating the ethics and dilemmas of educational research with children, Routledge pg. 11-25

Somekh, Bridget and Cathy Lewin (eds.) (2005) Research Methods in the Social Sciences. Sage Publications: Great Britain

Sturgis, Patrick (2008) "Designing Samples" in Gilbert, Nigel (2008) Researching social life, Thousand Oaks, CA. Sage pg. 165-181

Swedish Research Council (2011) Good Research Practice, Swedish Research Council: Stockholm, Sweden pg. 65-72

Titchen, Angie and Dawn Hobson (2005) "Phenomenology" in Somekh, Bridget and Cathy Lewin (eds.) (2005) Research Methods in the Social Sciences. Sage Publications: Great Britain pg.121-130

Terra Rodrigues, Cassiano (2011) "The Method of Scientific Discovery in Peirce's Philosophy: Deduction, Induction, and Abduction", *Logica Universalis* 5 (2011), 127–164

United Nations Treaty Collection http://treaties.un.org/Pages/UNTSOnline.aspx?id=3 accessed April 12th 2012

Valdés, Guadalupe and Claudia Angelelli (2003) "Interpreters, Interpreting, and the study of Bilingualism", *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics* (2003) 23, 58–78

Waldehorn, Anna (ed.) (2007) Undocumented children in Sweden. Annual report from "Utanpapper.nu" March 2006 – March 2007, Save the Children Sweden, Stockholm

Westin, Sanna (2008) Undocumented children "All I want is to land!" Report from the Save the Children project utanpapper.nu a helpline for undocumented children. Save the Children Sweden, Stockholm

Williamson, Deanna L, Jaeyoung Choi, Margo Charchuk, Gwen R Rempel, Nicole Pitre, Rhonda Breitkreuz and Kaysi Eastlick Kushner (2011) "Interpreter-facilitated cross-language interviews: a research note", *Qualitative Research* 2011 11 (4) 381-394

Online consultations:

Migrationsverket (the Swedish Migration Board) official web page: http://www.migrationsverket.se/info/467_en.html last accessed 23rd April, 2012.